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[REKA FCG 

CFO Services] 

ARMA Business Quarter, Office 8, 3-rd Floor, 

Bldg. 19, 5 Nizhny Susalny Lane, Moscow 

+7 (499) 553-07-07 www.cfoservices.ru 

 

AUDIT REPORT 

For the Shareholders and Board of Directors of 

Human Stem Cells Institute, Public Joint Stock Company (HSCI PJSC) 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of HSCI PJSC and its subsidiaries 

(hereinafter the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of 

31 December 2019 and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as of 31 December 2019, and its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter IFRS). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We have conducted the audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISA). 

Our responsibility according to these standards is set out below in the section “Responsibility of 

Auditors for the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements” of our report. 

We are independent from the Group in accordance with the Rules on Independence of Auditors 

and Audit Firms and the Code of Ethics of Auditors complying with the respective Code of Ethics 

of Professional Accountants of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants, and we 

have duly complied with the other ethical commitments as per the said professional ethics 

requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, have been of most 

significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 

matters have been addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters. 

For each of the matters below, our description of how the respective matter has been addressed 

in our audit is set forth in this context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities set out in the section “Responsibility of Auditors for the 

Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements” of our report, including responsibilities regarding 

these matters. Therefore, our audit has included performing procedures designed in response to 

our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of 

our audit procedures, including the procedures performed in addressing the matters below, 

provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 

 

  

http://www.cfoservices.ru/
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[REKA FCG 

CFO Services] 

ARMA Business Quarter, Office 8, 3-rd Floor, 

Bldg. 19, 5 Nizhny Susalny Lane, Moscow 

+7 (499) 553-07-07 www.cfoservices.ru 

 

Audit report of an independent auditor on the consolidated financial statements of HSCI PJSC 

and its subsidiaries prepared in accordance with IFRS for the year ended on 31 December 

2019 and as of that date 

 

Key audit matter 

 

How the respective key matter has been 

addressed in our audit 

 

Public offering of registered common shares of the Group's subsidiary on the Moscow 

Exchange 

 

According to the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements, in 2019 IMCB PJSC, a 

subsidiary of the Group, implemented a plan 

to obtain public status and conducted an IPO 

on the Moscow Exchange. 

As part of the IPO, the company made a public 

offering of 223,948 registered common 

shares, accounting for 15% of its authorized 

capital. As a result of this IPO, HSCI PJSC's 

stake in the authorized capital of IMCB PJSC 

decreased to 85%. IMCB PJSC's share 

premium of 150,471 thousand roubles was 

attributed to the share of non-controlling 

shareholders at fair value. 

It is a key audit matter because this economic 

fact has a significant impact on the Group's 

consolidated financial statements and is 

beyond the scope of the audited entity's 

ordinary business. 

 

In order to obtain reasonable assurance as to 

the reliability of the disclosure of the effect of 

this transaction on the accompanying 

consolidated financial statements of the 

Group, we have obtained appropriate audit 

evidence supporting the IPO of IMCB PJSC 

and the public offering of its registered 

common shares. 

We have analyzed the Group management's 

assessment of the share of non-controlling 

shareholders. 

We have assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures made by the Group in accordance 

with IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 

Statements. 

 

Initial application of IFRS 16 Leases 

 

http://www.cfoservices.ru/
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The Group applied IFRS 16 Leases 

retrospectively with cumulative effect of 

initial application as of 1 January 2019. 

As of 1 January 2019, the Group recognized 

lease liabilities equal to the present value of 

the remaining lease payments, discounted 

using the lessee's incremental borrowing rate. 

Right-of-use assets are recognized on the date 

of initial application in an amount equal to the 

lease liability. 

After initial recognition, right-of-use assets 

are carried at historical cost less depreciation 

and adjusted for the effect of lease 

modifications. Lease liabilities after initial 

recognition are recorded with interest and the 

effect of lease modifications. 

Lease liabilities after initial recognition are 

recorded with interest and the effect of lease 

modifications. 

In our audit, we have examined the application 

of a modified retrospective approach to the 

initial recognition of right-of-use assets and 

lease liabilities. 

 

We have analyzed the validity of the valuation 

judgments regarding lease terms and discount 

rates used to calculate lease assets and lease 

liabilities. 

We have reviewed the calculations of: 

- the historical cost of the assets and the lease 

liabilities; 

- the effect of lease modifications on the value 

of lease assets and lease liabilities; 

- depreciation of right-of-use assets; 

- interest expenses on lease liabilities. 

 

We have analyzed the completeness of lease 

disclosures in the financial statements as 

required by IFRS 16 Leases. 

 

Issue of exchange-traded bonds 

 

In the Group's consolidated statement of 

financial position as of 31 December 2019, the 

non-current liabilities include liabilities 

incurred due to the issue of exchange-traded 

bonds in a total amount of 30,000 thousand 

roubles (30,000 bonds with a nominal value of 

1 thousand roubles per bond) maturing in ten 

years from the issue date. It is a key audit 

matter because this economic fact has a 

significant impact on the Group's consolidated 

financial statements and is beyond the scope 

of the audited entity's ordinary business. 

 

In order to confirm the transaction, we have 

received the Board of Directors' resolution to 

approve the exchange-traded bond program, 

the bond issue program and terms, and the 

trade organizer's notification of admission to 

trading. 

We have made calculations to confirm the 

amount of interest expenses on the payment of 

coupon income at the established interest rate. 

We have assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures made by the Group in accordance 

with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 

 

Reflection of received advances by maturity in the consolidated statements 

 

According to the Group's accompanying 

consolidated statement of financial position as 

of 31 December 2019, advances 

received from customers, amounting to 

262,692 thousand roubles, whose maturity on 

the reporting date exceeds 12 months, are 

included in the non-current liabilities and 

advances received from customers, amounting 

In order to obtain reasonable assurance as to 

the correct breakdown of accounts payable for 

advances received from customers by 

maturity date, we have analyzed the Group's 

accounting policies and the provided 

calculation of the breakdown of accounts 

payable balance for advances received under 
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to 253,566 thousand roubles, whose maturity 

on the reporting date does not exceed 12 

months, are included in the current liabilities. 

 

customer biological material storage 

contracts. 

We have assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures made by the Group in accordance 

with IFRS 1 Presentation of Financial 

Statements. 

 

Events after the reporting date arising from the spread of a new coronavirus infection 

(COVID-19) 

 

According to the Group's accompanying 

consolidated financial statements as of 31 

December 2019, the Group recorded a post 

reporting date event arising from the spread of 

a new coronavirus infection (COVID-19) that, 

according to the Group management's 

estimates, has no material impact on the 

Group's ability to meet its obligations for at 

least a period exceeding 12 months after the 

reporting date. 

In our audit, we have obtained appropriate 

audit evidence supporting the Group's ability 

to meet its obligations for at least a period 

exceeding 12 months after the reporting date. 

Determination of the expected credit loss (ECL) provision for impairment of trade and 

other receivables 

 

 

Trade and other receivables do not contain a 

significant financing component, so the ECLs 

can be measured using the simplified 

approach allowed under IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments, which requires the recognition of 

expected losses from the initial recognition of 

receivables over the full term. 

The Group's consolidated statement of 

financial position shows the balances of trade 

receivables from operating activities as of 31 

December 2019 equal to 61,717 thousand 

roubles, including an ECL provision of 52,725 

thousand roubles. The balance of Other 

receivables as of 31 December 2019 was 

40,023 thousand roubles, including an ECL 

provision of 47,453 thousand roubles. 

We consider the procedure for creating a 

provision for doubtful debts due to the 

possible impact of subjective factors on this 

parameter. 

 

Our audit procedures for determining the 

amount of expected credit losses have 

included: 

- testing the validity of dividing 

counterparties into groups with similar 

exposure to credit risk; 

- analyzing the Group's accounting policies 

regarding the approach to calculating the 

impairment of trade and other receivables; 

- testing the adequacy of the Group's 

provisions by assessing the underlying 

assumptions made by management, taking 

into account available information from 

external sources. 

 

We have assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures made by the Group in accordance 

with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and Note 

19 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

 

 

Other Information 

The management is responsible for the other information. The other information includes 

information contained in the issuer's Q4 2019 quarterly report and HSCI PJSC's 2019 Annual 
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Report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our audit report thereon. 

The issuer's Q4 2019 quarterly report is provided to us prior to the date of this audit report. HSCI 

PJSC's 2019 Annual Report is expected to be provided to us after the date of this audit report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 

do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 

the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our examination of the other 

information we have obtained prior to the date of this audit report, we conclude that such other 

information is materially misstated, we are required to report that fact. We have no knowledge of 

such facts. 

 

Responsibility of the Management and Persons in Charge of the Corporate Management 

for Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

The management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as the management 

determines necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, the management is responsible for 

evaluating the Group's potential to continue as a going concern, for disclosing where appropriate 

the going concern data, and for preparing statements on the basis of the going concern 

assumption, except where the management plans liquidation of the Group, discontinuation of its 

activities or where the management has no viable option other than liquidation or discontinuation 

of activities. 

Persons in charge of the corporate management are responsible for supervising the preparation of 

the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

Responsibility of Auditors for the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements 

We aim at obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 

misstatements related to fraud or error and at making an audit report expressing our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance implies a high level of confidence but does not guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing is sure to reveal material 

misstatements, if any. Misstatements can be a result of fraud or error and are deemed as material 

if it can be reasonably assumed that, either individually or collectively, they can influence 

economic decisions made by users on the basis of the given financial statements. 

When conducting an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we proceed 

from professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

Moreover, we: 

a) identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control; 

b) obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control; 

c) assess the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the management; 



 

8 
 

d) conclude on the appropriateness of the Group management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue 

as a going concern. If we conclude that there is considerable uncertainty, our duty is to highlight 

the relevant disclosures in the financial statements in our audit report, or, if such disclosures are 

improper, change our opinion accordingly. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained before the date of our audit report. However, future events or circumstances can make 

it impossible for the Group to continue as a going concern; 

e) assess the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation; 

We communicate with persons in charge of the corporate management and keep them updated, 

among other things, on the planned audit scope and dates, and present material 

observations/comments on the basis of the audit findings, in particular, concerning major defects 

in the internal control system as we may reveal in the course of the audit. 

 

General Director of REKA AUDIT LLC 

I. S. Suldina /signature/ 

 

Audit Task Manager of REKA AUDIT LLC 

N.G. Malyshenko /signature/ 

 

[Round seal of REKA AUDIT LLC] 

 

 

7 May 2020 

 

Audited entity 

Human Stem Cells Institute, Public Joint Stock Company (HSCI PJSC)  

OGRN [Primary State Registration Number] 1037789001315. 

Located at: Room 24, 3-rd floor, 10A Avenue of 60th Anniversary of October Revolution, 

Moscow, 117036 

 

Audit firm 

REKA AUDIT Limited Liability Company (REKA AUDIT LLC) is a member of the Self-

Regulated Organization of Auditors Association "Sodruzhestvo" (SRO AAS), Primary 

Registration Number of Entry (ORNZ) 12006113174 dated 20 March 2020. 

OGRN [Primary State Registration Number] 1177746544282 

Located at: Room 17, Premise XI, Bldg. 19, 5 Nizhny Susalny Lane, Moscow, 105064. 

 

 

 

 
 

  



HSCI PJSC 
Consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2019 
(thousands of Russian roubles, unless otherwise specified) 

 

 

Authorized for issue and signed by the Group Management on 06 May 2020 

_____________________________      

          S.V. Masyuk       

         General Director                                                                 

 

The attached notes set out on pages 14 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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  Note 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Assets       

Non-current assets       

Fixed assets     16                           236,860                         276,721  

Intangible assets     17                           419,863                         316,437  

Right-of-use assets     18                           142,457                                  -    

Investments in the shares of other companies     19                             18,188                                  -    

Other financial assets     19                               6,980                                    3  

Deferred tax assets     14                             65,047                           57,380  

Total non-current assets                          889,395                         650,541  

         

Current assets       

Inventory     20                           172,672                         137,872  

Trade receivables from operating activities     19                             61,717                           43,814  

Advances paid      19                          45,057                           65,682  

Other receivables      19                             40,023                           21,881  

Other financial assets     19                           100,433                         140,559  

Cash and cash equivalents     21                             89,745                           64,413  

Total current assets                          509,647                         474,221  

Total assets                       1,399,042                      1,124,762  

         

Equity and liabilities       

Equity       

Issued shares  22                             7,500                             7,500  

Share premium                          135,002                         139,702  

Treasury shares                          (22,061)                        (26,011) 

Retained earnings / (uncovered loss)                            (9,971)                        (94,541) 

Accrued dividends                          (12,097)                                 -    

Other equity components                                 375                                375  

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 

entity 
                           98,748                           27,025  

Non-controlling interests                          271,981                           94,729  

Total equity                          370,729                         121,754  

         

Non-current liabilities       

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings     19                           113,660                         322,015  

Issued bonds     19                             30,000                                  -    

Advances received     19                           262,692                         264,698  

Lease liabilities     19                           134,187                                593  

Deferred tax liabilities     14                                  318                             2,524  

Total non-current liabilities                          540,857                         589,830  

        

Current liabilities       

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings     19                           138,384                           50,648  

Advances received     19                           253,566                         230,793  

Trade and other payables     19                             82,642                         121,516  

Lease liabilities     19                               7,984                             1,208  

Taxes payable                              4,880                             9,013  

Total current liabilities                          487,456                         413,178  

Total liabilities                       1,028,313                      1,003,008  

Total equity and liabilities                       1,399,042                      1,124,762  

 



HSCI PJSC 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 
ended on 31 December 2019 
(thousands of Russian roubles, unless otherwise specified) 

 

 

 

Authorized for issue and signed by the Group Management on 06 May 2020 

 

   
_____________________________    

          S.V. Masyuk       

       General Director                                                                 

 

The attached notes set out on pages 14 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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  Note 

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019 

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018 

         

Sales of goods and services 10.1                     835,575                     644,688  

Sales                       835,575                     644,688  

         

Operating expenses, including: 10.2                   (655,053)                  (527,297) 

    Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets, intangible assets 
and right-of-use assets 

                      (60,022)                    (29,652) 

Operating income                       180,522                     117,391  

         

Interest expense 13                     (41,548)                    (30,242) 

Interest income                           4,908                         3,269  

Net other non-operating income/ (expenses) 11                     (41,429)                  (135,899) 

Net foreign exchange loss 12                       (1,009)                      (8,348) 

Profit/(loss) before tax                       101,444                     (53,829) 

Profit tax income 14                         9,891                       35,586  

Profit/(loss) for the reporting period                       111,335                     (18,243) 

Comprehensive profit/(loss) for the reporting period                       111,335                     (18,243) 

  
  

    

Profit/(loss) for the reporting period                     111,335                     (18,243) 

attributable to:       

owners of the parent entity                         84,554                     (34,208) 

non-controlling interests 9                       26,781                       15,965  

  

  

    

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the reporting period                     111,335                     (18,243) 

attributable to:       

owners of the parent entity                         84,554                     (34,208) 

non-controlling interests 9                       26,781                       15,965  

         

Basic and diluted profit/(loss) per share, in relation to the loss for the 
reporting period attributable to common shareholders of the parent 

company, roubles 

15                           1.48                         (0.24) 

 

 



HSCI PJSC 
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
ended on 31 December 2019 
(thousands of Russian roubles, unless otherwise specified) 
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  Note 

For 12 months 

 ending  

on 31 December 2019 

For 12 months 

 ending  

on 31 December 2018 

    

Operating activities       

Profit/(loss) for the reporting period                          111,335                         (18,243) 

Profit tax income                            (9,891)                        (35,586) 

Profit/(loss) before tax                          101,444                         (53,829) 

         

Adjustment of non-cash items to reconcile profit before tax to net 

cash flows 
      

Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets, intangible assets and right-

of-use assets 
16,17,18                          60,022                           29,652  

Interest expenses 13                          41,548                           30,242  

Interest income                            (4,908)                          (3,269) 

Effect of incorporating a new subsidiary into the group and disposing of 

an associated company as a result of its reorganization  
                                  -                           126,270  

Net foreign exchange profit/(loss)                              1,009                             8,348  

Other non-operating expenses                             63,743                             9,362  

Effect of changes in the subsidiary's equity interest                                    16                           (5,727) 

Physical inventory                                   -                           (76,140) 

Profit/(loss) from operating activities before adjustments to working 

capital, interest paid, and income taxes 
                         262,874                           64,909  

        

Working capital adjusted       

Change in trade and other receivables and prepayments                          (15,848)                        (12,940) 

Changes in inventory                          (34,800)                        (14,022) 

Change in trade and other payables and prepayments                          (36,566)                        (18,525) 

Net cash flows from operating activities                          175,660                           19,422  

         

Investing activities       

Purchase of fixed assets, intangible assets and right-of-claim assets                        (196,191)                        (35,339) 

Loans issued                          (18,225)                          (4,963) 

Issued loan repayment                              7,542                             6,348  

Proceeds from sale of financial assets available for trading / (purchase of 

financial assets for trading) 
                           24,143                             2,804  

Interest received                              3,167                              (879) 

Net cash flows used in investing activities                        (179,563)                        (32,029) 

 
 

 
  

  



HSCI PJSC 
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
ended on 31 December 2019 (continued) 
(thousands of Russian roubles, unless otherwise specified) 

 

 

 

The attached notes set out on pages 14 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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  Note 

For 12 months 

 ending  

on 31 December 2019 

For 12 months 

 ending  

on 31 December 2018 

        

Financing activities       

Proceeds from issuing bonds                            29,993                                  -    

Proceeds from loans and borrowings, net of fees paid                            25,000                           19,300  

Repayment of loans and borrowings                        (146,512)                        (33,700) 

Interest paid                          (28,080)                        (28,881) 

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares                              1,525                           17,168  

Sale of interest in the subsidiary                          150,471                                  -    

Net cash flows from financing activities                            32,397                         (26,113) 

        

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents                            28,493                         (38,720) 

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates                            (3,161)                          (3,643) 

Opening cash and cash equivalents                            64,413                         106,776  

Closing cash and cash equivalents                            89,745                           64,413  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Authorized for issue and signed by the Group Management on 06 May 2020 

 

 

 

 
_____________________________    

        S.V. Masyuk       

      General Director  
  

 



HSCI PJSC 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year 
ended on 31 December 2019 
(thousands of Russian roubles, unless otherwise specified)  

 

 

Authorized for issue and signed by the Group Management on 06 May 2020 

 

  
_____________________________     

        S.V. Masyuk       

      General Director                                                                 

The attached notes set out on pages 14 to 61 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.      13 

  Attributable to equity holders of the parent entity     

  
Issued shares 

(mln. shares) 
Issued shares 

Treasury 

shares 

Share 

premium 
Other funds Retained earnings Total 

Non-controlling 

interests 
Total equity 

As of 1 January 2018                 75            7,500     (43,179)       139,702               485                      (53,294)                   51,214                     77,342                128,556  

Loss for the period                 -                    -                -                    -                    -                        (34,208)                  (34,208)                    15,965                (18,243) 

Total comprehensive loss                 -                    -                -                    -                    -                        (34,208)                  (34,208)                    15,965                (18,243) 

Sale of treasury shares                 -                    -         17,168                  -                    -                                 -                      17,168                            -                    17,168  

Effect of changes in the subsidiary's 
equity interest 

                -                    -                -                    -              (110)                       (7,039)                    (7,149)                      1,422                  (5,727) 

31 December 2018                75            7,500     (26,011)       139,702               375                      (94,541)                   27,025                     94,729                121,754  

Profit for the period                 -                    -                -                    -                    -                         84,554                    84,554                     26,781                111,335  

Total comprehensive profit                 -                    -                -                    -                    -                         84,554                    84,554                     26,781                111,335  

Sale of treasury shares                 -                    -           3,950          (4,700)                 -                                 -                          (750)                           -                       (750) 

Effect of changes in the subsidiary's 
equity interest  

                -                    -                -                    -                    -                                16                           16                   150,471                150,487  

Dividends declared                 -                    -                -                    -                    -                        (12,097)                  (12,097)                           -                  (12,097) 

31 December 2019                75            7,500     (22,061)       135,002               375                      (22,068)                   98,748                   271,981                370,729  

 

 



HSCI PJSC 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
as of and for the year ended on 31 December 2019 
(thousands of Russian roubles, unless otherwise specified) 
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1. Company Background 

 

The issue of the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (hereinafter the consolidated financial statements) of Human Stem Cells Institute, Public Joint Stock 

Company, and its subsidiaries for the period ended on 31 December 2019 was authorized by the General Director's 

resolution of 06 May 2020.  

Human Stem Cells Institute, Public Joint Stock Company, – HSCI PJSC (hereinafter the Company or HSCI PJSC or 

HSCI) is the first Russian publically traded biotechnology company founded on 27 November 2003 under the laws 

of the Russian Federation. The HSCI Group (hereinafter the Group or the HSCI Group) comprises the Company and 

its subsidiaries, affiliated companies and associations. 

The HSCI Group focuses on scientific research, development, marketing and further promotion of proprietary 

innovative pharmaceutical products and high-tech medical services. The Company aims to create a new culture of 

patient care – to foster health care in the field of personalized and preventive medicine. 

The Group's projects encompass the following segments of modern biomedical technologies: gene therapy; medical 

genetics, including reproductive genetics (genetic research and consulting); regenerative medicine (cellular services 

and products, tissue-engineered products); bio-insurance; and biopharmaceutics. 

 

In December 2009, HSCI conducted its initial public offering on the MICEX Stock Exchange (ticker: ISKJ), which 

was the first IPO of a biotechnology company in Russia, and became an issuer of the IIM sector (Innovation and 

Investment Market - a stock exchange platform for innovative and fast-growing companies). Today, the MICEX 

Stock Exchange has been merged with the Moscow Exchange PJSC (MICEX-RTS Moscow Exchange PJSC). 

 

At the end of 2019, the Company's major shareholders were: 

• Maria Ilyinichna Isaeva; share in % – 32.53%; in shares – 24,394,400 shares. 

• DYNAMIC SOLUTIONS LTD. (103 Sham Peng Tong Plaza, Victoria, Mahe, Seychelles); share in % – 

25.65%; in shares – 19,235,177 shares. 

• MirMam LLC; share in % – 16.68%; in shares – 12,510,000 shares. 

 

As of 31 December 2019, the Company is controlled by the aforementioned major shareholders (the total share in 

the Company's authorized capital is 74.86%). 

 

 

http://www.micex.ru/marketdata/quotes
http://moex.com/s25
http://moex.com/s25


HSCI PJSC 
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2. Group Background 

Subsidiaries Background 

 

The Group's subsidiaries, whose financial statements are included in the Group's consolidated financial 

statements, are presented below: 

Company name Business profile 
Country of 

registration 

Group participating 

interest, % 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018 

IMCB PJSC International Medical Center of Biomaterials 

Processing and Cryostorage (provision of medical 

services – Gemabank® services)  
Russia 85.00 100.00 

GENETIKO CGRM 

LLC 

Research & development and implementation of 

its results in practical health care. R&D results are 

marketed through the provision of medical 

services (genetic research and consulting) 
Russia 82.21 79.99 

Reprolab LLC Personal and donor reproductive cell and tissue 

banking services: procurement and sale of donor 

reproductive cells, cryopreservation of personal 

reproductive samples, professional long-term 

storage and transportation of reproductive cells and 

tissues 

Russia 82.21 79.99 

NextGen LLC Research & development and its implementation 

in the field of gene therapy  Russia 100.00 100.00 

Nextgen Pharma LLC Wholesale of Neovasculgen 
Russia 99.00 99.00 

Vitacel LLC Developer of cell and tissue engineering 

technologies in regenerative medicine (including 

aesthetic medicine - technology of using patients' 

own dermal fibroblasts for correcting age-related 

and scarring skin defects (SPRS-therapy) 

Russia 60.00 60.00 

Cell Technology 

Laboratory LLC 

Development of new technologies and drugs based 

on cell and gene therapy methods. IP holder. Russia 100.00 75.00 

Cryonix JSC Operations in biotechnology, pharmacology and 

medicine - development and registration of 

innovative drugs and provision of high-tech 

medical services 

Russia 100.00 100.00 

NVG-Cardio LLC Research & development and marketing of its 

results (introduction of innovative gene therapy 

drugs for treating cardiovascular pathology) Russia 65.00 65.00 

Angiogenesis LLC Practical application of the intellectual activity 

results: R&D and implementation of innovative 

gene therapy drugs for treating cardiovascular 

pathology 

Russia 67.00 67.00 

IceGen 2 LLC Participation in the equity of third-party companies 

engaged in the development and production of 

pharmaceuticals 
Russia 100.00 100.00 

 

Since 27 August 2018, HSCI PJSC has been registered at: Room 24, 3-rd floor, 10A Avenue of 60th Anniversary 

of October Revolution, Moscow, 117036. 

2. Group Background (continued) 

International Medical Center of Biomaterials Processing and Cryostorage PJSC (IMCB PJSC)  
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IMCB LLC was founded on 1 September 2014 (HSCI's share: 100%) with the aim to improve the effectiveness 

of the Gemabank® project management and to apply the income tax incentives offered by the state to medical 

companies. The transfer of Gemabank®, a bank of umbilical cord blood-derived hematopoietic stem cells, was 

initiated on 1 October 2015; in July 2015, IMCB LLC received a license for working with hematopoietic stem 

cells (collecting, transporting and storing HSCs) and in Q4 2015, it began to provide package services of personal 

UCB-SC banking in Gemabank®.  

IMCB LLC was restructured into IMCB PJSC and on 26 July 2019 publicly offered 223,948 common 

shareholders amounting to 15% of the company's authorized capital. Following the additional issue of shares, 

HSCI's share reduced to 85%. 

GENETIKO Center for Genetics and Reproductive Medicine LLC (GENETIKO CGRM LLC) 

The Center for Genetics and Reproductive Medicine of Human Stem Cells Institute LLC (CGRM HSCI LLC) 

was founded in October 2012 by a resolution of the sole founder of HSCI PJSC. The company was created to 

carry out HSCI's research & development in the field of medical genetics and implementation of its results in 

practical health care. R&D results are marketed through the provision of medical services. 

In October 2015, CGRM HSCI LLC was renamed GENETIKO CGRM LLC. Pursuant to the investment 

agreement signed with HSCI PJSC on 17 February 2014 for joint financing of the socially significant Genetico 

project (development of personalized medicine in the Russian Federation in the field of diagnostics and 

prevention of hereditary diseases and pathologies with a genetic component, including in the reproductive field), 

the second member of the company has been Biopharmaceutical investments of RVC LLC (RVC Biofund LLC) 

since 2 June 2014. 

As part of the investment agreement, during 2016, HSCI PJSC fulfilled its obligation to make an additional 

contribution of 40 million roubles under the terms of subsequent conversion into a stake in the authorized capital 

of GENETIKO CGRM LLC. The additional contribution to GENETIKO CGRM LLC's authorized capital was 

converted as follows: 1 rouble in GENETIKO CGRM LLC's authorized capital to 1 thousand roubles of HSCI's 

equity. As of 31 March 2016, according to the results of the conversion, GENETIKO CGRM LLC's authorized 

capital amounted to 354,000 roubles, HSCI's share in it was 78.81%, and RVC Biofund's share was 21.19%. In 

June 2016, GENETIKO CGRM LLC's authorized capital was increased by the members through conversion of 

loans into shares in the authorized capital and amounted to 399,634 roubles, where HSCI's share was 73.08% 

and RVC Biofund's share was 26.92%. 

As part of the addendum of 22 March 2017 to the investment agreement between RVC Biofund LLC and HSCI 

PJSC on the Genetico project of 17.02.2014, the parties provided for an additional round of financing by HSCI 

PJSC: as part of the financing, HSCI PJSC made an additional contribution of 138 million roubles to GENETIKO 

CGRM LLC's authorized capital on 31 March 2017. Thus, as a result of the next round of financing for 

GENETIKO CGRM LLC, from 10 April 2017, RVC Biofund LLC's share in GENETIKO CGRM LLC was 

20.01%, and HSCI PJSC's share was 79.99%. 

On 11.11.2019, the general meeting of GENETIKO CGRM LLC's members decided to increase the authorized 

capital through an additional contribution of 120 million roubles paid by HSCI, with the ratio between the value 

of the additional contribution and the nominal value of the member's share acquired being 1,783.19:1. The 

additional contribution was made by transferring money to GENETIKO CGRM LLC's settlement account. 

Following the contribution, HSCI's share was increased to 82.21% (changes in the Unified State Register of 

Legal Entities were registered on 24.12.2019).   

Reprolab LLC was registered on 13 April 2017 as a subsidiary of GENETIKO CGRM LLC with a 100% 

ownership interest. HSCI PJSC's effective ownership is 82.21%. 

NextGen LLC was founded in November 2011. The company's activities are: in the field of gene therapy - 

research & development of new preventive and treatment methods; in the field of gene therapy drugs - 

development, production, marketing. 

2. Group Background (continued) 

Since 2017, the company has been intensively marketing the innovative gene therapy drug Neovasculgen®. In 

2017, Order No. 804n dated 13.10.2017 by the Ministry of Health Care of the Russian Federation - On Approval 

of the Nomenclature of Medical Services - registered medical service A25.12.001. 001 "Administration of 

plasmid deoxyribonucleic acid (supercoiled circular double stranded) for peripheral arterial disease", Order No. 

15031/26-1/И dated 03.12.2018 by the Federal Compulsory Medical Insurance Fund included the service in the 

diagnosis-related group for 24-hour and day in-patient facilities (ds36.00 and st36.003). This paved the way for 
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hospital sales, as health care facilities were able to receive reimbursement from the Territorial Compulsory 

Medical Insurance Fund for the drug they purchased. 

In 2019, the company received a grant of 20,482 thousand roubles from the Skolkovo Foundation to conduct 

clinical trials to expand the clinical indications of Neovasculgen® in the therapy for diabetic foot syndrome; 

studies were initiated. The recognized profit in 2019 was 630 thousand roubles.  

Due to a multiple increase in sales, as part of the marketing proces, in July 2018, NextGen LLC set up NextGen 

Pharma LLC: under a license agreement with NextGen LLC, since Q2 2019, the company has been engaged in 

the contract manufacturing and wholesale of Neovasculgen®. 

The development of a line of gene-activated osteoplastic materials using Neovasculgen® resulted in the creation 

of the gene-activated material Histograft, designed for bone grafting in surgical dentistry and maxillofacial 

surgery (to treat patients with bone defects). 

The company is actively working on the international patent protection of its innovations. 

Vitacell LLC is a developer of cell-based and tissue engineering technologies in the regenerative medicine. The 

company has developed a SPRS therapy® – an innovative technology of using autologous dermal fibroblasts to 

repair skin damage due to ageing and other structural changes. A 60% share in the authorized capital of Vitacell 

LLC was acquired in April 2010. 

Cell Technology Laboratory LLC was set up by HSCI PJSC in April 2007. In December 2018, HSCI purchased 

the minority share in Cell Technology Laboratory LLC and, already as of 31 December 2018, HSCI's effective 

interest was 100%. 

Cryonix JSC operates in the biotech, pharmacological and medical sectors. Among the company's leading R&D 

projects is the promotion of innovative H1 histone-based drugs used in the treatment of a number of hemato-

oncological diseases, and the development of stem cell-based drugs.  

A share in Cryonix JSC was acquired through a series of deals and grew following the increase in the authorized 

capital.  In 2018, upon the division of IceGen LLC, HSCI's effective interest in Cryonix JSC came to 100%: 

HSCI PJSC held 70.13% and IceGen 2 LLC - 29.87%. 

NVG-Cardio LLC was registered in May 2015 to carry out research & development and implement the results 

of intellectual activity in the field of creating innovative gene therapy drugs for treating cardiovascular pathology 

- the most common cause of mortality in the Russian Federation. HSCI PJSC's share in NVG-Cardio LLC is 

65%. 

Angiogenesis LLC was incorporated in September 2016, HSCI PJSC held 67% in it. The company focuses on 

research and development in natural sciences and engineering (in particular, R&D for the promotion of 

innovative gene therapy drugs to treat cardiovascular diseases). 

On 15 January 2018, after the reorganization of IceGen LLC through restructuring, IceGen 2 LLC was set up, 

in which HSCI holds an 80.912% share and Cryonix JSC - 19.088%, which brings the Group's effective interest 

to 100%. IceGen 2 LLC holds stakes in capitals of third-party companies specializing in the development and 

manufacturing of drugs. 

The companies incorporated in the Group do not have representative offices. 

3.  Associated companies 

As of 31 December 2019, the Group has no associated companies.  

 
4. Operating Environment  

Russia continues to carry out economic reforms and develop a legal, tax and regulatory infrastructure to meet 

the requirements of a market economy. The stability of the Russian economy will largely depend on the progress 

of these reforms and the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the 

government. Market fluctuations and slowdown in the global economy also have a significant impact on the 

Russian economy.  

The Russian economy remains highly dependent on oil price fluctuations on the world market. In recent years, 

the volatility of oil prices, along with the geopolitical crisis in Ukraine, in which Russia is involved, has had a 

significant negative impact on the country's economy and, consequently, on the amount of disposable income of 

the population, which has led to a decrease in consumer demand. 
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Difficult economic conditions, including rising inflation, volatile rouble, capital outflows from the country, and 

reduced opportunities for borrowing and increased investment in the economy also contribute to the negative 

expectations that exacerbate the crisis in consumer demand. 

At the moment, the possibility of renewed growth continues to be limited by the remaining economic sanctions 

against Russia imposed by the international community and retaliatory Russian measures (various export 

embargoes).  

Therefore, the risk of a prolonged recession in the economy, insufficient access to financing, and the high cost 

of capital may negatively affect the Group's future financial position, operating performance and business 

prospects.  

The Group management believes it is taking appropriate measures to maintain the Group's economic 

sustainability under the current circumstances. 

 

4.1. Basis for Preparing Financial Statements 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (hereinafter IFRS), as adopted by the IASB, in effect as of the date of these consolidated financial 

statements.  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-for-

sale financial assets that are measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements present the previous period information for comparison.  

The Russian rouble is the functional currency of HSCI PJSC and its subsidiaries because it is the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which these companies operate. These consolidated financial statements are 

presented in Russian roubles, unless otherwise specified. 

HSCI PJSC and its subsidiaries keep accounting records and prepare financial statements in Russian roubles in 

accordance with the applicable Russian accounting laws. These consolidated financial statements are based on 

the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries prepared in accordance with national laws, adjusted and 

reclassified for the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Most 

adjustments are related to revenue recognition, valuation of fixed assets, accounting for financial instruments, 

provisions, deferred income taxes, and investments in subsidiaries, as well as the application of IFRS 

requirements for the preparation of consolidated financial statements.  

 

 

4.2. Basis for Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries 

as of 31 December 2019. Control is exercised if the Group is entitled to a variable return on investment or is 

exposed to the risk associated with its change and can affect this return due to its powers in respect of the investee. 

In particular, the Group controls the investee only if 

the following conditions are met: 

• the Group has powers in respect of the investee (i.e., existing rights that provide it with the current ability 

to control the significant activities of the investee); 

• the Group is entitled to a variable return on investment or is exposed to a risk associated with a change in 

such return; 

• the Group can use its powers in respect of the investee to affect the variable return on investment. 

If the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights in respect of the investee, the Group considers 

all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has powers in respect of the investee: 

• an agreement with other persons who have voting rights in the investee; 

• rights arising from other agreements; 

• voting rights and potential voting rights held by the Group. 

The Group reassesses whether it controls the investee if the facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three components of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 

obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control over the subsidiary. The assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
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statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group loses control 

over the subsidiary. 

The profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) is attributed to the owners of the 

Group's parent company and the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 

having a negative balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries 

to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and 

liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows arising from intra-group transactions are fully eliminated 

during consolidation. 

A change in ownership interest in a subsidiary without loss of control is accounted for as an equity transaction.  

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

• Derecognizes the assets and liabilities (including attributable goodwill) of the subsidiary 

• Derecognizes the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests 

• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity 

• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received 

• Recognizes the fair value of the remaining investment 

• Recognizes the resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss 

• Reclassifies the parent company's share in the components previously recognized in other comprehensive 

income (OCI) as part of profit or loss or retained earnings in accordance with the specific requirements 

of IFRS, as if the Group had directly disposed of the respective assets or liabilities. 

 

 

4.3. Significant Accounting Policies 

Business Combination and Goodwill 

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured 

as the sum of the consideration transferred, measured at fair value as of the acquisition date, and the non-

controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination transaction, the acquirer measures the non-

controlling interest in the acquiree at its proportionate share in the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The 

acquisition expenses are included in administrative expenses at the time they are incurred. 

When the Group acquires a business, it properly classifies the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as of the acquisition 

date. This includes an analysis of whether the acquiree needs to allocate derivatives embedded in the underlying 

contracts. 

If the business combination is done in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously held 

equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured at its fair value as of that date, with any resulting gain or loss 

recognized in profit or loss and then included in the determination of goodwill. 

Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date. 

Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability, which is a financial instrument and falls within the 

scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized either in 

profit or loss or as a change in OCI. If contingent consideration is not within the scope of IFRS 9, it is measured 

in accordance with another applicable IFRS. If contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not 

subsequently remeasured and its payment is recorded in equity. 

Goodwill is initially measured at historical cost, being the excess of the aggregate amount of the consideration 

transferred, the recognized non-controlling interests and the acquirer's previously held interests over the 

aggregate amount of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by the Group. If the fair value of 

the net assets acquired is in excess of the consideration transferred, the Group reassesses whether it has correctly 

identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure 

the amounts to be recognized as of the acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the consideration transferred is 

again less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognized in profit or loss. 

Later, goodwill is measured at historical cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment 

testing of goodwill acquired in a business combination, starting from the date of acquisition by the Group, 

goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business 

combination, regardless of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are allocated to those units. 
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If goodwill is part of a cash-generating unit and part of the unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the 

disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 

disposal. Under these circumstances, the disposed goodwill is measured according to the ratio of the value of the 

disposed operation to the value of the remaining part of the cash-generating unit. 

As of 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group has no goodwill. 
 

Transactions under Common Control 

For business combination transactions under common control, the Group measures the net assets related to the 

transaction at the carrying value on the accounts of the transferring company. The amount of the transaction is 

agreed upon between the parties to the transaction. The difference between the net assets received and the 

transaction amount is recognized in "other components" of equity.  

 

4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

Investments in Associated Companies and Joint Ventures 

An associated company is a company over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is 

the power to participate in decisions regarding the investee's financial and operating policies, but not control or 

jointly control such policies. 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that exercise joint control over the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractual joint exercise of control, which occurs 

only when decisions regarding significant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties exercising joint 

control.  

The factors considered in determining whether there is significant influence or joint control are similar to the 

factors considered in determining whether there is control over subsidiaries.  

The Group's investment in its associated company and joint venture are accounted for under the equity method. 

According to the equity method, an investment in an associated company or joint venture is initially recognized 

at historical cost. The carrying amount of the investment is subsequently increased or decreased due to the 

recognition of the Group's share in the changes in the net assets of the associated company or joint venture arising 

after the acquisition date. 

Goodwill relating to the associated company or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment 

and is neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.  

The statement of comprehensive income reflects the Group's share in the financial results of the associated 

company or joint venture. Changes in other comprehensive income of such investees are presented in other 

comprehensive income of the Group. Furthermore, if there has been a change recognized directly in the equity 

of the associated company or joint venture, the Group recognizes its share of such change and discloses that fact, 

when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. 

Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associated company or joint 

venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associated company or joint venture.  

The Group's share in the profit or loss of the associated company and joint venture is presented directly in the 

statement of comprehensive income outside of operating income. It is profit or loss after accounting for tax and 

non-controlling interest in the subsidiaries of the associated company or joint venture.  

The financial statements of the associated company or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period 

as those of the Group. Where necessary, they are adjusted to bring the accounting policies into line with those of 

the Group. 

Classification of Assets and Liabilities into Current/Short-Term and Non-Current/Long-Term 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on their classification as 

current/short-term and non-current/long-term. An asset is current if: 

• it is expected to be sold, or it is intended for sale or consumption in the normal operating cycle; 

• it is mainly intended for trading purposes; 

• it is expected to be sold within twelve months after the end of the reporting period; or 
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

• it is cash or cash equivalents, unless there are restrictions on its exchange or use to settle a liability for at 

least twelve months after the end of the reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as non-current.  

 

A liability is current if: 

• it is expected to be settled within the normal operating cycle; 

• it is mainly held for trading purposes; 

• it is expected to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period; or 

• the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve 

months after the end of the reporting period. 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current/long-term assets and liabilities. 

Foreign Currency Translation 

The Group's consolidated financial statements are presented in Russian roubles. The Company's functional 

currency is the Russian rouble. Each Group company has its own functional currency, and the amounts included 

in the financial statements of each company are calculated in that functional currency. The Group management 

has decided that the functional currency for all of the Group's subsidiaries is the currency of the country in which 

they operate; for all of the Group's subsidiaries the functional currency is the Russian rouble.  

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate 

effective on the transaction date. At the end of the period, monetary assets and liabilities are translated into the 

functional currency at the exchange rate effective on the reporting date, and all differences are recognized in 

profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are recorded at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated into the 

functional currency at the exchange rate effective on the transaction date. Non-monetary items carried at fair 

value are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate effective on the date when the fair value 

was determined. 

For consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign companies are translated into Russian roubles at the rate 

effective on the reporting date, and their statements of profit or loss are translated at the weighted average 

exchange rate for the period, if it is approximately equal to the exchange rate on the transaction date, otherwise 

the latter is used. The exchange differences arising from these translations are recognized in other comprehensive 

income. On disposal of or loss of control over a foreign company, the component of other comprehensive income 

relating to that foreign company is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Revenue Recognition 

IFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for companies to apply when accounting for revenue from 

contracts with customers. IFRS 15 replaced existing revenue recognition rules, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 

11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations. The adoption of IFRS 15 effective 1 January 2018 did not 

have a material impact on the Group's financial position or financial performance. 

A five-step model is applied for compliance with the revenue recognition criteria: identification of the contract, 

identification of performance obligations, determination of the transaction price, allocation of the transaction 

price to performance obligations, revenue recognition when/as performance obligations are fulfilled. 
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 

revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at the fair value 

of the consideration received or receivable, subject to contractually defined payment terms, less taxes or duties.  

The Group has concluded that it acts as principal in all of its revenue contracts because it is the primary obligated 

party to the contract in all cases, has pricing discretion, and is also subject to inventory and credit risk. 

Advances received from customers are not recognized as current year revenue and are recognized as liabilities. 

Revenue is also recognized if the following criteria are met: 

Sale of Goods  

Revenue from the sale of goods is generally recognized upon delivery of the goods, when the significant risks 

and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the purchaser. 

Revenue from the sale of Neovasculgen® is recognized at the time the ownership (possession, use and disposal) 

of the product is transferred from the Group to the customer, subject to other recognition criteria. Under the terms 

of contracts with customers, if certain conditions are met (related to the remaining shelf life of the drug), 

customers are able to return a contractually agreed amount of drugs to the Company in exchange for a new one. 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a provision should be made for possible refunds.  

Provision of services 

Revenue from umbilical cord blood-derived stem cells (UCB-SCs) isolation and cryopreservation services is 

recognized at the moment of cell cryopreservation, which is documented in the protocol of isolation and 

cryopreservation of umbilical cord blood-derived hematopoietic stem cells. Revenue from UCB-SC storage 

services in the cryopreservation facility is recognized on a straight-line basis over the storage period, under the 

terms of contracts with customers.  

The company can sell services for UCB-SC isolation, cryopreservation and storage under one contract ("as a 

package") or under separate ones. In the case of one contract with a client for the services of UCB-SC isolation, 

cryopreservation and storage, revenue for each component is recognized on the basis of the criteria described 

above. Amounts received for the services of UCB-SC isolation, cryopreservation and storage are recorded as 

advances received from purchasers and customers in accounts payable (net of applicable value-added tax) until 

the services are provided (the moment of revenue recognition).  

While providing the services of UCB-SC isolation and cryopreservation, the Company engages third parties 

(medical institutions, "contractors") that provide part of the services (primarily the collection of blood from 

clients). Revenue from such services is recognized in the full amount expected to be received from the client 

under the terms of the contract, since the Company acts as the primary obligor under the contract. Payments for 

services rendered by "contractors" to the Company in the course of providing services to the Company's 

customers are recorded as operating expenses.  

Revenue from the comprehensive SPRS-therapy service is recognized immediately upon its provision on the basis 

of issued certificates. The service is considered rendered when the created cell bank for transplantation is 

transferred to the customer; at the same time, a certificate of services rendered is drawn up and signed. 

Revenue from skin cell storage services is recognized on a monthly basis to the extent set forth in the price list 

for the current period in equal installments. 

Revenue from Genetico project services (GENETIKO) is recognized upon completion of the service. 
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Other Revenue from Sale 

Other revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognized under the following conditions: 

• the Group has transferred significant risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the goods to 

the purchaser;  

• the Group no longer participates in management to the extent normally associated with ownership and 

does not control the goods sold; 

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in connection with the transaction can be reliably measured.  

The Company also provides R&D services to third parties and related parties, with revenue recognized at the 

time of completing the stages of the work and obtaining approval of the results from the counterparty (certificates 

of work completed).  

Interest income 

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest bearing financial assets classified as 

available for sale, interest income is recognized under the effective interest rate method. The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the 

financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 

liability. 

 

Taxes 

Current Income Tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The Group's Russian companies calculate income tax in 

accordance with the laws of the Russian Federation. The income tax rate in the Russian Federation is 20%.  

The current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the 

statement of comprehensive income. The company management from time to time asseses positions reflected in 

tax returns in respect of which the respective tax laws may be interpreted differently, and creates provisions, if 

necessary. 

Deferred Tax 

Deferred tax is calculated under the liability method by determining temporary differences between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes on the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences unless: 

• the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill, an asset or a liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associated 

companies, and with interests in joint ventures, the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can 

be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax credits and unused tax 

losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 

differences, unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be offset, unless: 
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

• the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 

an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 

affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 

• with respect to deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associated 

companies, and with interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that 

it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will 

be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed on each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 

be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed on each reporting date and are recognized to the 

extent that it has become probable that future taxable income will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilized. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the reporting year in 

which the asset is sold and the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted on the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is not recognized in profit or loss either. Deferred 

tax items are recognized in accordance with their underlying transactions either in other comprehensive income 

(OCI) or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset against each other if a legally enforceable right exists to 

set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 

the same taxation authority. Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria 

for separate recognition on that date, are recognized subsequently if new information about changes in facts and 

circumstances becomes available. The adjustment is recorded as a reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not 

exceed goodwill) if it occurred before the completion of initial accounting for the acquisition of the business, 

otherwise it is recognized in profit or loss. 

Value Added Tax 

Value added tax (VAT) on sales payable to the budget is recorded on an accrual basis, based on invoices issued 

to customers VAT paid on purchases of goods and services is reimbursed against VAT received from customers, 

provided certain conditions are met. VAT paid on the purchase of goods and services that is reimbursable from 

the budget in subsequent reporting periods is reflected in the financial statements as VAT recoverable. 

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts are expected 

to be recovered mainly through sale rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and disposal groups 

classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

The criterion for classifying an item as held for sale is considered met only when the sale is highly probable and 

the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its current condition. 

The management should have a firm intention to make a sale for which the criteria for recognition as a completed 

sale are expected to be met within one year from the date of classification. 
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a separate 

line item in the statement of comprehensive income as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations. 

Fixed and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not subject to depreciation and amortization. 

Fixed assets 

Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation based on the useful life adopted by the Group for 

IFRS purposes and impairment losses.  

The value of fixed assets includes renovation and replacement costs, which increase the useful life of the assets 

and their ability to generate income, as well as borrowing costs in the case of long-term construction projects, if 

the criteria for their capitalization are met.  

When significant components of fixed assets need to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognizes such 

components as individual assets with their respective useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Similarly, 

when a major maintenance inspection is performed, the associated costs are recognized in the carrying value of 

fixed assets as equipment replacement if all the recognition criteria are met. All other repair and maintenance 

costs are recognized in profit or loss when incurred. 

The present value of the expected costs of decommissioning an asset after its use is included in the historical cost 

of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision for future costs are met.  

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 

 
Type of fixed assets Useful life in years 

Buildings and structures 10-25 

Plant and equipment 3-25 
Other 2-5 

 

A previously recognized fixed asset or a significant component thereof is derecognized upon disposal or when 

no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the use or disposal of the asset. Any gain or loss arising 

on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income in the reporting year in which the 

asset is derecognized. The residual values, useful life, and depreciation methods of fixed assets are reviewed at 

the end of each annual reporting period and adjusted if necessary. 

Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets that have been acquired separately are measured at historical cost on initial recognition. The 

historical cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value on the date of acquisition. 

After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at historical cost less accumulated amortization and 

accumulated impairment losses.  

Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized product development costs, are not capitalized and 

the respective expense is recognized in profit or loss in the reporting period in which it is incurred. 

  



HSCI PJSC 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
as of and for the year ended on 31 December 2019 
(thousands of Russian roubles, unless otherwise specified) 

 

 

 26  

4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Costs incurred during the research phase are to be recognized as expenses when incurred. 

Intangible assets resulting from the development of an internal project are recognized when, and only when, the 

Group can demonstrate that the following conditions have been met:  

(a) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it is available for use or sale; 

(b) its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

(c) the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

(d) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the 

company may demonstrate that there is a market for the intangible asset's products, or the intangible asset 

itself, or, if the asset is intended to be used for internal purposes, the usefulness of the intangible asset; 

(e) the availability of sufficient technical, financial and other resources to complete the development, use or 

sale of the intangible asset; 

(f) the ability to reliably estimate the costs related to the intangible asset during its development. 

After initial recognition of development costs as an asset, assets are carried at historical cost less accumulated 

amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of an asset begins when development is complete 

and the asset is available for use and is carried out over the estimated period of the future economic benefits. 

Amortization is recorded as part of the cost of production.  

During the development period, the asset is reviewed annually for impairment. 

The Group's intangible assets include research & development available for use, rights of use and patents, 

computer software, and licenses.  

All of the Group's intangible assets have limited useful lives. 

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. 

The expected useful lives of intangible assets in the reporting and comparative periods were as follows: 

• rights of use and patents – 5-19 years; 

• software and licenses – 3 years; 

• trademarks – 4-16 years; 

• R&D – 5-10 years. 

Amortization expense on intangible assets with a limited useful life is recognized in operating expenses in the 

respective reporting period. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income when the asset is derecognized. 

Lease 

Whether a transaction is or contains the characteristics of a lease is based on an analysis of the transaction's 

content as of the effective date of the contract. This analysis is to determine whether fulfillment of the contract 

depends on the use of a particular asset or assets, and whether the right to use the asset or assets passes from one 

party to another as a result of the transaction, even if it is not explicitly stated in the contract. 

Effective 1 January 2019, the Group has applied IFRS 16 Leases. The standard establishes principles for the 

recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of information under lease contracts in financial 

statements. 
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

IFRS 16 Leases has been applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard as 

of 1 January 2019, with no restatement of comparative information.  

The Group has applied the following practical simplifications: 

- the standard has been applied to contracts that were previously identified as leases under IAS 17 Leases and 

IFRIC 4, Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease; 

- the standard has not been applied to contracts that were not previously identified as containing the 

characteristics of a lease under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4; 

- the Group has applied one discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics; 

- lease payments under leases expiring within 12 months from the date of initial application are recognized as 

expenses of the reporting period; 

- initial direct costs have not been included in the valuation of the right-of-use asset on the date of initial 

application; 

- when determining the lease term, the Group has used previously obtained information where the contract 

contains options to extend or terminate the lease. 

The table below summarizes the effect of the initial application of IFRS 16 Leases on the consolidated statement 

of financial position as of 1 January 2019: 

 

  31 December 2018 
Effect of applying IFRS 

16 Leases 

as of 1 January 

2019 

Assets       

Non-current assets       

Fixed assets                   276,721                                  (3,118)                         273,603  

Right-of-use assets                             -                                  146,896                          146,896  

Total non-current assets                   650,541                                143,778                          794,319  

Current assets       

Other receivables                      21,881                                  (2,468)                           19,413  

Total current assets                   474,221                                  (2,468)                         471,753  

Total assets                1,124,762                                141,310                       1,266,072  

        

Equity and liabilities       

Non-current liabilities       

Lease liabilities                          593                                     (593)                                  -    

Lease liabilities                             -                                  137,524                          137,524  

Total non-current liabilities                   589,830                                136,931                          726,761  

Current liabilities       

Trade and other payables                   121,516                                     (131)                         121,385  

Lease liabilities                       1,208                                  (1,208)                                  -    

Lease liabilities                             -                                      5,718                              5,718  

Total current liabilities                   413,178                                    4,379                          417,557  

Total liabilities                1,003,008                                141,310                       1,144,318  

Total equity and liabilities                1,124,762                                141,310                       1,266,072  

 

Leasing assets of 3,118 thousand roubles have been transferred from Fixed Assets to Right-of-Use Assets.  
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Lease Accounting Policy Effective of 1 January 2019  

 

At the time of entering into a contract, the Group assesses whether there are any characteristics of a lease. The 

contract contains the characteristics of a lease if it contains legally enforceable rights and obligations that confer 

the right to control the use of the identified asset for a specified period of time in exchange for consideration.  

In accounting for contracts where the Group is the lessee, the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease 

liability as of the lease commencement date. The lease commencement date is the date on which the asset 

becomes available for use by the lessee.  

The right-of-use asset is valued at historical cost, which includes:  

• the initial measurement of the lease liability;  

• lease payments on or before the lease commencement date, less lease incentives received;  

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Company;  

• an estimate of the costs to be incurred by the Group company in dismantling, relocating the asset, restoring 

the site on which the asset is located, or restoring the asset as required by the terms of the lease. 

The Group does not recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability for short-term leases not exceeding 12 

months and for low-value leased assets.  

The right-of-use asset is subsequently carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses, subject to adjustments to remeasure the lease liability, if any are required in the event of a lease 

modification. 

The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date until the earlier 

of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term.  

Liabilities arising from leases are initially measured at the present value of lease payments not yet made on that 

date. 

Lease payments are discounted at the Group's incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate at which, on the lease 

commencement date, the Group could have borrowed, for a similar time period and with a similar collateral, the 

funds necessary to finance an asset that has the same values as the right-of-use asset under similar economic 

conditions.  

Lease liabilities include the value of the following payments:  

• fixed payments, including substantially fixed payments;  

• variable payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured at the index or rate on the lease 

commencement date;  

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees; 

• the exercise price of a call option for which the Group has reasonable assurance of exercise;  

• penalties for early termination of the lease if the lease term reflects the Group's potential exercise of the 

lease termination option.  

Variable payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease 

liability and are recorded as expenses of the reporting period. 
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily 

takes a substantial period of time to be ready for its use as intended by the Group or sale are capitalized as part 

of the historical cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are recognized as expenses in the reporting period in 

which they are incurred. Borrowing costs include interest and other costs incurred by the company in connection 

with the borrowed funds. 

Financial Instruments – Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement 

The Group classifies and measures financial instruments in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.  

The Group does not apply hedge accounting. 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset for one company and a financial liability 

or equity instrument for another company. 

Financial Assets 

Initial Recognition and Measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets remeasured at fair value through profit or 

loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; available-for-sale financial assets; and derivatives 

designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial assets, other than those 

remeasured at fair value through profit or loss, are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable 

transaction costs. 

All purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 

regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, which is the 

date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 

Subsequent Measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into four categories: 

• Financial assets remeasured at fair value through profit or loss; 

• Loans and receivables carried at amortized cost; 

• Held-to-maturity investments remeasured at amortized cost; 

• Available-for-sale financial investments remeasured at fair value through other comprehensive income; 

Financial Assets Remeasured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

Financial assets remeasured at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and 

financial assets classified upon initial recognition as remeasured at fair value through profit or loss.  

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of being sold in the near 

future. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they 

are designated as effective hedging instruments under IFRS 9. 

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group has investments in shares of other companies that 

are acquired for the purpose of being sold in the near future.  
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

Financial assets remeasured at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position 

at fair value, with net changes in their fair value recognized in other non-operating income (expenses) in the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Derivative instruments embedded in host contracts are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value 

if their inherent economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts, and the 

host contracts are not held for trading or classified as remeasured at fair value through profit or loss. These 

embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in their fair value recognized in profit or loss. The 

accounting treatment is revised either when there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly 

modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required, or when the financial asset is reclassified and removed 

from those measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Loans and Receivables 

This category is the most significant for the Group. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, such 

financial assets are measured at amortized cost under the effective interest rate method, less impairment losses. 

Amortized cost calculations include purchase discounts or premiums and fees or costs that are an integral part of 

the effective interest rate.  

Depreciation based on the effective interest rate is included in interest income in the statement of comprehensive 

income. Impairement losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in other non-operating 

expenses for loans and in other operating expenses for receivables. 

This category mainly includes trade and other receivables as well as loans to third parties and related parties 

(Note 19).  

Held-to-Maturity Investments 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-

maturity investments when the Group has a firm intention and ability to hold them to maturity. After initial 

recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost under the effective interest rate method, 

less impairment losses. Amortized cost calculations include purchase discounts or premiums and fees or costs 

that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 

The effective interest rate amortization is included in the statement of comprehensive income as interest income. 

Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as other non-operating expenses. 

Available-for-Sale Financial Investments 

Available-for-sale financial investments include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as 

available-for-sale are those investments that have not been classified either as held for trading or as remeasured 

at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those securities that the company intends 

to hold for an indefinite period of time and that may be sold for liquidity purposes or in response to changes in 

market conditions.  

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are measured at fair value, and unrealized gains 

or losses thereon are recognized in OCI in the available-for-sale fund until 

4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

the investment is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognized in other operating income, 

or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative loss is reclassified from 

available-for-sale instruments to profit or loss and recognized as a finance cost. Interest earned while holding 

available-for-sale financial investments is recognized as interest income under the effective interest rate method. 

The Group assesses its available-for-sale financial assets to determine whether the ability and intention to sell 

them in the near term is still appropriate. If, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial 

assets because there are no active markets for them, the Group may decide to reclassify these financial assets if 

the management has the ability and intention to hold these assets in the near future or until maturity. 

Derecognition 
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A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

derecognized (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) if: 

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 

pay the received cash flows in full and without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through" 

arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 

or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 

but has transferred control of the asset. 

 

If the Group has transferred all rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has entered into a pass-through 

arrangement, it assesses whether it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership and, if so, to what extent. If 

the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 

control of the asset, the Group continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent the Group continues to 

be involved in it. In this case, the Group also recognizes a respective liability. The transferred asset and the 

respective liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations retained by the Group. 

Impairment of financial assets 

On each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 

of financial assets is impaired. There is impairment if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 

of the asset (occurrence of a "loss event") had a reliably measurable impact on the estimated future cash flows 

from the financial asset or group of financial assets. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor 

or group of debtors is in substantial financial difficulty, unable to service its debts or is making faulty interest or 

principal payments, and the likelihood that it will undergo bankruptcy proceedings or another type of financial 

reorganization. In addition, such evidence includes observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease 

in the estimated future cash flows from a financial instrument, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions 

that correlate in some way with defaults on debt repayments. 

Impairment of Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost 

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses whether there is impairment for financial 

assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If 

the Group determines that there is no objective evidence that an individually assessed financial asset is impaired, 

whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with a similar credit risk profile and 

then collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for  

4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in the collective assessment for 

impairment. 

The amount of the identified impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying value 

and the present value of expected future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not been 

incurred yet). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the initial effective interest 

rate for the financial asset.  

Loans provided by the Group, trade and other financial receivables, and cash and cash equivalents are classified 

as measured at amortized cost. The Group does not have any financial assets classified as measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income.  

With respect to impairment accounting, IFRS 9 replaces the "incurred loss" model of IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with a new "expected credit loss" (ECL) model designed to ensure 

timely recognition of expected credit losses. An ECL provision is made for financial assets classified as measured 

at amortized cost. 

Trade and Other Receivables. Trade and other receivables do not contain a significant financing component, so 

the ECLs can be measured using the simplified approach allowed under IFRS 9, which requires the recognition 

of expected losses from the initial recognition of receivables over the full term. 

The Group always recognizes credit losses expected over the full term of the financial instrument for trade and 

other receivables. The ECL for these financial instruments is determined on the basis of the Group's credit loss 

history adjusted for debtor-specific factors, general economic conditions, and estimates of both current and 

projected circumstances on the reporting date, including the time value of money where appropriate. 
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The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a provision account, and the loss is recognized in 

the statement of comprehensive income. The accrual of interest income (which is recorded as interest income in 

the statement of comprehensive income) at the reduced carrying amount continues, based on the interest rate 

used to discount future cash flows in order to measure the impairment loss. Loans together with the respective 

provisions are written off the balance sheet when there is no reasonable expectation of their future recovery and 

all available collateral has been sold or has been transferred to the Group. If, in the following year, the amount 

of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases due to an event occurring after the impairment was 

recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or decreased by adjusting the provision 

account. If a previous write-down of a financial instrument is subsequently reversed, the reversal is recognized 

as a reduction of financing costs in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Determination of the expected credit loss (ECL) provision for impairment of trade and other receivables                                                                          

 

The movements in the ECL provision for financial assets within trade and other receivables and the movements 

in the provision for impairment of non-financial assets within other receivables are as follows:  
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

  

  

ECL provision for 

trade receivables 

ECL provision for 

other receivables 

ECL provision for 

impairment of non-

financial receivables 

As of 31 December 2018                          57,606                           47,574                             7,233  

Provision accrual/(reversal) in the reporting period                             2,528                              (121)                          (4,938) 

Writing off bad debts against the provision                          (7,409)                                 -                                    -    

As of 31 December 2019                          52,725                           47,453                             2,295  

        
Financial Liabilities 

Initial Recognition and Measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, on initial recognition, as financial liabilities remeasured at fair value through 

profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 

hedge, as appropriate.  

The Group had no derivatives designated as hedging instruments during the reporting periods ended on 31 

December 2019 and 31 December 2018. All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, less (in the 

case of loans, borrowings and payables) directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group's financial liabilities include bonds issued, trade and other payables, loans and other borrowings.  

Subsequent Measurement 

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their following classification: 

Financial Liabilities Remeasured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

Financial liabilities remeasured at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 

and financial liabilities classified upon initial recognition as remeasured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the 

near future. This category also includes derivative financial instruments, in which the Group is a party to the 

contract, that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined in IFRS 9. Separated 

embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 

instruments. 

Gains and losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as remeasured at fair value through profit or loss are 

included in this category on the date of initial recognition and only if the criteria under IFRS 9 are satisfied.  

The Group has no financial liabilities remeasured at fair value through profit or loss during the reporting periods 

ended on 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. 
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

Issued Bonds, Loans and Borrowings 

Along with trade and other payables, this category is the most significant for the Group. After initial recognition, 

interest-bearing loans and borrowings are measured at amortized cost under the effective interest rate method. 

Gains and losses on such financial liabilities are recognized in profit or loss when they are derecognized as well 

as when they are amortized at the effective interest rate. Amortized cost calculations include purchase discounts 

or premiums and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  

The effective interest rate amortization is included in interest expense in the statement of comprehensive income. 

This category mainly includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings. See Note 19 for more information. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognized in the statement of financial position when the liability is discharged, 

cancelled, or expires. If an existing financial liability is replaced by another liability to the same lender on 

substantially different terms, or if the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such a replacement 

or modification is treated as derecognition of the initial liability and recognition of a new liability, and the 

difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.  

Offsetting Financial Instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement 

of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is 

an intention to settle on a net basis, to sell the assets and settle the liabilities at the same time. 

Inventory  

Inventory is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated 

costs of completion and estimated costs to sell. 

Cash  

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position include cash at banks and on hand and short-

term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 

For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-

term deposits as defined above.  

 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

On each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If there 

are such indications or if it is required to perform an annual impairment test of an asset, the Group assesses the 

recoverable amount of the asset. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) is the higher 

of an asset's or CGU's fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use of the asset or CGU. The recoverable 

amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 

independent of those generated by other assets or groups of assets. If the carrying amount of an asset or cash-

generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 

recoverable amount. 

4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
In assessing value in use, future cash flows are discounted at a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of 

disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If there are none, an appropriate valuation technique 

is used. These calculations are supported by valuation multiples, quoted freely traded stock prices or other 

available fair value indicators. 

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed plans and forecast calculations, which are prepared 

separately for each of the Group's CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These plans and forecast 

calculations are generally made for a five-year period. For longer periods, long-term growth rates are calculated 

and applied to projected future cash flows after the fifth year. 
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Impairment losses of continuing operations (including impairment of inventory) are recognized in the statement 

of comprehensive income in the expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for 

previously revalued properties where the revaluation has been recognized in other comprehensive income. For 

such properties, the impairment loss is recognized in other comprehensive income to the extent of any previous 

revaluation. 

On each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is an indication that previously recognized asset 

impairment losses other than goodwill no longer exist or have decreased. If there is such an indication, the Group 

calculates the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU. Previously recognized impairment losses are reversed 

only if there has been a change in the valuation used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the 

impairment loss was last recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not 

exceed its recoverable amount, nor can it exceed the carrying amount less depreciation at which the asset would 

have been recognized had no impairment loss been recognized in prior years. Such a reversal is recognized in 

the statement of comprehensive income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. In the latter case, the 

reversal is treated as a revaluation surplus.  

Treasury Shares 

 

The company's own equity instruments reacquired by the company (treasury shares) are recognized at historical 

cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 

cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments. The difference between the carrying amount of treasury 

shares and the amount of consideration received for their subsequent sale is recognized as share premium.  

Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event; an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits to settle the obligation is probable, and a reliable 

estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.  

Accounts receivable from buyers and customers are adjusted by the amount of the provision for impairment of 

these debts. Such a provision is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 

all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 

Provisions for Warranties (Quality Warranties) 

 

Provisions for warranty costs are recognized when products are sold or services are rendered. Initial recognition 

is based on prior experience. The initial estimate of warranty costs is reviewed annually. 
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4.3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Advertising Costs 

 

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred and are included in operating expenses in the Group's consolidated 

statements of profit or loss and comprehensive income. Advertising costs include, among other things, costs 

associated with promotional materials and brochures distributed to customers.  

4.4. Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosure Principles 

 
In preparing these financial statements, the Group has applied the same accounting policies as those used to 

prepare the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 2018. 

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards and interpretations disclosed in the financial 

statements for the year ended on 31 December 2019 and as of that date, are effective in subsequent reporting 

periods and have not been applied by the Group early in preparing these financial statements. 

The following new standards and amendments to standards have been applied by the Group since 1 January 

2019: 

 

IFRS 16 Leases. The new standard, issued in 2016, replaces IAS 17 Leases and related IFRS lease interpretations; 

eliminating the classification of leases into operating and finance leases, the standard provides uniform guidance 

for a lessee's accounting for leases.  

The Group has applied a modified retrospective approach, which involves reflecting the cumulative effect of 

initially applying the standard as of the date of first application, i.e., 1 January 2019.  

On initial application, the Group has taken advantage of the practical expedient, namely applying the new 

standard only to contracts that were already identified as containing operating or finance leases under IAS 17 

and IFRIC 4, which are no longer in effect.  

The balance sheet reflects a one-time increase in non-current assets and financial liabilities as a result of reflecting 

leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17 on the balance sheet, as of 1 January 2019. 

The effect of this standard on the Group's financial statements is disclosed in the Leases section of Note 4.3. 

- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments. This interpretation clarifies that for current and deferred 

tax purposes, companies should apply interpretations of tax uncertainties that are very likely to be accepted by 

the tax authorities. This interpretation has had no material effect on the financial statements.  

- Amendment to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments known as Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation. The 

amendment applies to financial assets with an early redemption option, the terms of which are such that the debt 

instrument is redeemed early at a variable amount that can be either greater or smaller than the remaining 

contractual cash flows outstanding, and permits such instruments to be designated at either amortized cost or at 

fair value through other comprehensive income. The amendment has had no effect on the financial statements as 

there are no instruments described above.  

- Amendment to IAS 19 Employee Benefits known as Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement. This 

amendment provides a procedure for determining pension expenses when changes to a defined benefit pension 

plan occur. This amendment has had no effect on the financial statements as there are no pension plans.  
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4.4. Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosure Principles (continued) 

 

As of the date of approval of these financial statements, the following standards have been issued but are not 

effective: 

In May 2017, the IASB issued a new standard, IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. IFRS 17 provides unified guidance 

on accounting for insurance contracts and contains all the requirements for the respective disclosures in the 

financial statements. The new standard replaces IFRS 4 of the same name. IFRS 17 becomes effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. This new standard will have no effect on the financial statements.  

In March 2018, the IASB issued a new version of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. In 

particular, new definitions of assets and liabilities and revised definitions of income and expenses are introduced. 

The new version of the document becomes effective for mandatory application beginning in annual periods after 

1 January 2020. The new version will not have a material effect on the financial statements.  

In October 2018, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations. The amendment clarifies 

the concept of business, which is introduced by the standard. The amendment becomes effective for business or 

asset group acquisitions occurring after 1 January 2020. Early application of the amendment is permitted. The 

amendment will have no effect on the financial statements.  

In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 

introduce a new definition of materiality. The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 become effective on or after 1 

January 2020. Early application is permitted. These amendments will have no material effect on the financial 

statements.  

In September 2019, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IFRS 9 

Financial Instruments known as Interest Rates. Benchmark Reform. The adopted amendments provide 

exemptions to certain hedge accounting requirements, the fulfillment of which may cause discontinuation of the 

hedge accounting due to uncertainty arising from the interest rate benchmark reform. The amendments become 

effective on 1 January 2020. Early application is permitted. These amendments will have no effect on the 

financial statements.  

In January 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements known as 

Classification of Financial Liabilities as Current or Non-Current. The adopted amendment clarifies the criteria 

for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendment becomes effective on 1 January 2022. Early 

application is permitted. The amendment will have no material effect on the financial statements.  

The Company does not plan early application of the above new standards and amendments to existing standards, 

where it is possible.  

The Group has restated certain items in these financial statements for the 12 months of 2018 due to the following 

changes: 

 - advances paid to suppliers are classified as a separate line item in the statement of financial position.  

Statement of financial position 
Before 

adjustment 
Deviation After adjustment 

Current assets       

Advances paid                       -                     65,682                   65,682  

Other receivables                87,563                 (65,682)                  21,881  

 

To this effect, all related disclosures have been adjusted. 
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5. Material Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 

 

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires its management to make judgments, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 

disclosure of such items and contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates may result 

in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected by such 

assumptions and estimates in the future. 

The key assumptions about the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty on the reporting date that 

may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fiscal year are 

discussed below. The Group's assumptions and estimates are based on the information available to the Group at 

the time of preparing the consolidated financial statements. However, current circumstances and assumptions 

about the future may change due to market changes or circumstances beyond the Group's control. Such changes 

are reflected in the assumptions as they occur. 

The most material estimates pertain to determining the useful lives of fixed assets, impairment of financial and 

non-financial assets, fair value of financial instruments, provision for claims and complaints, deferred income 

tax, and R&D expenses. Actual results may differ from the estimates. 

Useful Life of Fixed Assets 

The Group assesses the remaining useful lives of fixed assets at least once a year at the end of the fiscal year. If 

expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are reported as changes in accounting estimates under 

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. These estimates may have a material 

effect on the carrying amounts of fixed assets and depreciation recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income. 

Impairment of Assets 

Impairment occurs when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 

which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The fair value less costs to sell calculation 

is based on available data on binding commercial transactions for sales of similar assets or on observable market 

prices less incremental costs arising from the disposal of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on the 

discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not 

include restructuring activities to which the Group is not yet committed or material future investments that will 

improve the asset performance of the cash-generating unit being tested for impairment. The recoverable amount 

is most sensitive to the discount rate used in the discounted cash flow model and to the expected cash inflows 

and growth rates used for extrapolation purposes.  

Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually as of 31 December and when events or circumstances indicate that 

its carrying amount may be impaired.  

Goodwill impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU (or a group of CGUs) to 

which the goodwill relates. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, 

an impairment loss is recognized. A goodwill impairment loss cannot be reversed in future periods. 

Non-financial asset impairment losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as operating 

expenses.  
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5. Material Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 

 

Litigation 

The Group management exercises material judgments in measuring and recognizing provisions and risks of 

contingent liabilities related to pending litigations or other outstanding claims subject to settlement through 

negotiation, mediation, arbitration or government involvement, as well as other contingent liabilities. The 

management's judgments are necessary in assessing the likelihood that a pending claim against the Group will 

succeed, or a material liability will arise, and in determining the possible amount of the final settlement. Because 

of the uncertainty inherent in the estimation process, actual losses may differ from the initial estimate of the 

provision. These estimates are subject to change as new information becomes available, whether from in-house 

specialists or outside consultants. Revisions of such estimates may have a material effect on future operating 

performance. 

Current Taxes 

The Russian tax laws are subject to different interpretations and frequent changes. The tax authorities may 

interpret the tax laws and regulations as applied to the Group's transactions and activities differently from the 

management. As a result, the tax authorities may challenge transactions and assess significant additional taxes, 

penalties and fines on the Group companies. The tax authorities' audit of tax liabilities may cover the three 

calendar years immediately preceding the year of audit. Under certain conditions, earlier periods may also be 

subject to audit. The management believes that as of 31 December 2019, the respective laws have been 

interpreted correctly and that it is highly probable that the Group's tax position will be sustained. See Note 14 

for more information. 

Deferred Tax Assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that their realization is probable. The realization of a deferred 

tax asset will depend on the ability to generate sufficient taxable income in the respective tax jurisdiction. Various 

factors are considered in assessing the probability of the future realization of a deferred tax asset, including past 

operating performance, operating plans, expiration of tax loss carryforwards and tax planning strategies. If actual 

results differ from these estimates or if these estimates must be adjusted in future periods, it may have a material 

effect on the Group's financial position, operating performance and cash flows. See Note 14 for more 

information. 

Research and Development (R&D) Expenses 

Initial capitalization of R&D expenses is based on the management's judgment that technological and economic 

feasibility is confirmed, usually when a product development project reaches a certain stage according to an 

established project delivery model.  

Provision for Impairment of Receivables 

Expected Credit Loss (ECL) provision for receivables is based on the Group's assessment of the creditworthiness 

of specific customers. The provision is made when there is doubt as to whether the Group will be able to collect 

all amounts due according to the original terms of the contract.  

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will face bankruptcy or financial 

reorganization, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 12 months overdue) are considered indicators 

of impairment of receivables. 
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5. Material Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 

 

Estimated Liabilities with Respect to Future Vacation Pay. 

For purposes of straight-line recognition of future expenses in production costs of the reporting period, the Group 

creates estimated liabilities (provisions) for future vacation pay and for the amount of insurance contributions. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Where the fair value of financial instruments and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial 

position cannot be derived from active markets, it is determined under valuation techniques including the 

discounted cash flow model. These models use information from observable markets as inputs whenever 

possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required to establish fair values.  

Judgments include consideration of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in 

assumptions about these factors may affect the fair value of financial instruments recorded in the financial 

statements. 

6. Segment Information 

 

In accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments, operating segments are components of an entity, for which there 

are separate financial data that are regularly assessed and analyzed by the entity's management.  

For management purposes, the Group forms a single operating segment under IFRS 8, which operates in the field 

of modern biomedical technologies, introducing into practical medicine innovative competitive products (high-

tech medical services and pharmaceuticals) that open new directions and embody the latest scientific 

achievements in the field of cell, gene and post-genomic technologies. Certain projects considered by the Group's 

management and the Board of Directors, including as business plans, do not constitute operating segments and 

are not analyzed for financial results by product and/or service. The management and decision makers analyze 

products in terms of their share in the total revenues and the development dynamics of the respective areas. 

Information on the Group's revenue from sales of services and goods is disclosed in Note 10.1.  

The Group provides services and sells products primarily in the Russian Federation,  
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7. Going Concern Assumption 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the going concern concept, which 

implies that the Group is able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business in 

the foreseeable future.  

Due to the nature of the Group's business, a significant portion of current liabilities is represented by advances 

received from customers for the storage of umbilical cord blood-derived stem cells, which is the Group's liability 

to provide the services during 2020. At the same time, proceeding from historical statistics, the Group's 

management hold that only few of the Group's customers may request refund of paid advances in money terms. 

According to our forecasts, the net cash flow from the Group's operating activity in 2020 will be sufficient to 

cover our liabilities that fall due in 2020.  

In the opinion of the Group's management, the going concern assumption has been adequately applied in the 

preparation of these consolidated financial statements. The Group continuously monitors its liquidity ratios and 

current liabilities in order to prevent breach of contract terms. During 2020, the Group plans to finance projects related 

to the development of its own tests for antibodies to Covid -19 coronavirus infection, and the purchase and sale of ready-

to-use tests.   

The Group's management hold that a combination of the aforesaid measures and initiatives will provide the 

Group with the resources necessary for the discharge of its current liabilities and maintenance of its operating 

activity for a period exceeding 12 months after the reporting date. 

8. Capital Management 

 

Capital includes common and preferred stock, share premium and all other capital funds attributable to the 

owners of the parent company. The Group's primary objective with respect to its capital management is to 

maximize shareholder value.  

In order to achieve this goal, capital management must, among other things, ensure that all contractual terms of 

interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which define capital structure requirements, are met. Failure to meet the 

contractual terms gives the bank the right to demand immediate repayment of loans and borrowings. In the 

current period, the contractual terms of interest-bearing loans and borrowings have been met. 

The Group manages its capital structure and changes it in accordance with changes in economic conditions and 

the requirements of contractual terms. In order to maintain or change the capital structure, the Group may adjust 

the payment of dividends, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.  

The Group controls capital by using the leverage ratio, which is the ratio of net debt to the sum of equity and net 

debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other payables less cash and cash 

equivalents, excluding amounts related to discontinued operations. 

  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings                        252,044                         372,663  

Trade and other payables                          82,642                         121,516  

Lease liabilities                        142,171                             1,801  

Less cash and cash equivalents                        (89,745)                        (64,413) 

Net debt                        387,112                         431,567  

Equity                         370,729                         121,754  

Equity and net debt                         757,841                         553,321  

Leverage ratio                               0.51                               0.78  

 

There were no changes to the capital management objectives, policies and procedures during the periods ended 

on 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. 
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9. Material Partially-Owned Subsidiaries 

 

Financial information on subsidiaries in which there are material non-controlling interests is presented below: 

Proportionate Share in Equity Held by Non-Controlling Interests 

 

Name 
Country of incorporation 

and operation 
2019 2018 

Vitacel LLC Russia 40.00% 40.00% 

GENETIKO CGRM LLC Russia 17.79% 20.01% 

IMCB PJSC Russia 15.00% 0.00% 

 
Accumulated balances for material non-controlling interest: 

    2019 2018 

        

Vitacel LLC                             24,179                              18,214  

GENETIKO CGRM LLC                             89,347                              77,448  

IMCB PJSC                           156,330                                      -    

 

Profit/(loss) attributable to material non-controlling interest: 
    2019 2018 

Vitacel LLC                               5,965                                4,049  

GENETIKO CGRM LLC                             11,912                              12,349  

IMCB PJSC                               5,841                                      -    

 

 

Below is a summary of the financial information on these subsidiaries. This information is based on amounts 

before the Group's intercompany eliminations. 

 

Summarized Statement of Profit or Loss for 2019: 

 

  IMCB PJSC Vitacel LLC 
GENETIKO CGRM 

LLC 

Sales of goods and services                                238,590                            38,462                            400,071  

Operating expenses                                (98,743)                          (23,556)                         (293,665) 

Interest income                                    5,226                                     1                                   709  

Interest expense                                  (4,684)                                 (24)                           (25,034) 

Other income (expenses)                                (50,438)                                  30                            (22,424) 

         

Profit (loss) before tax                                  89,951                            14,913                              59,657  

Profit (loss) for the reporting year                                  89,951                            14,913                              59,657  

Total comprehensive income                                  89,951                            14,913                              59,657  

         

Attributable to non-controlling interests                                    5,841                              5,965                              11,912  
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9. Material Partially-Owned Subsidiaries (continued) 

 

Summarized Statement of Profit or Loss for 2018: 

  Vitacel LLC 
GENETIKO CGRM 

LLC 

Sales of goods and services                                  38,311                          325,926  

Operating expenses                                (28,478)                        (235,707) 

Interest income                                          -                                2,695  

Interest expense                                          -                             (17,260) 

Other income (expenses)                                       289                           (13,942) 

       

Profit (loss) before tax                                  10,122                            61,712  

Income tax                                          -                                      -    

Profit (loss) for the reporting year                                  10,122                            61,712  

Total comprehensive income                                  10,122                            61,712  

       

Attributable to non-controlling interests                                    4,049                            12,349  

 

 
Summarized Statement of Financial Position as of 31 December 2019: 

  IMCB PJSC Vitacel LLC 
GENETIKO CGRM 

LLC 

Total current assets                                150,754                            30,678                            166,814  

Total non-current assets                                368,187                            28,296                            572,797  

Total current liabilities                              (336,286)                            (3,680)                         (196,921) 

Total non-current liabilities                                (31,229)                               (846)                         (182,136) 

Total equity                                151,426                            54,448                            360,554  

         

Attributable to:       

Shareholders of the parent entity                                  (4,904)                           30,269                            271,207  

Non-controlling interest                                156,330                            24,179                              89,347  

 

Summarized Statement of Financial Position as of 31 December 2018: 

 
Summarized Statement of Financial Position as of 31 December 2018: 

  Vitacel LLC GENETIKO CGRM LLC 

Total current assets 18,451 241,460 

Total non-current assets 30,192                406,193 

Total current liabilities                                  (2,368)                        (154,756) 

Total non-current liabilities                                     (740)                        (312,000) 

Total equity                                  45,535                          180,897  

       

Attributable to:     

Shareholders of the parent entity                                  63,749                          258,345  

Non-controlling interest                                (18,214)                          (77,448) 

 
  



HSCI PJSC 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
as of and for the year ended on 31 December 2019 
(thousands of Russian roubles, unless otherwise specified) 

 

 

 44  

10. Operating Income and Expenses 

 

10.1. Sales of Goods and Services 

  
Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019 

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018 

Genetic research and consulting                                        (Genetico ® 

project services) 
                 392,900                   325,908  

Isolation, cryopreservation and long-term storage of umbilical cord blood-
derived stem cells (Gemabank®) 

                 241,677                   242,317  

Sale of DRM (Reprobank®)                    85,871                     23,946  

Sales of the drug Neovasculgen®                    74,883                     12,206  

SPRS-therapy ® service                    39,752                     38,913  

Other sales revenue                          492                       1,398  

Total                  835,575                   644,688  

      

 

 Revenue growth is observed for Neovasculgen due to hospital sales, Genetico® project services and sales of 

donor reproductive material (Reprobank®).  

 
 

10.2. Operating Expenses 

  

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019 

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018 

Staff salaries                  201,185                   202,945  

Consumables and reagents                  153,214                     72,855  

Production-type services of third parties                    39,437                     20,766  

Advertising costs                    38,923                     29,877  

Consulting services, legal support                     35,730                     21,407  

Social security contributions                    34,517                     25,016  

Transportation costs                    19,235                     13,338  

Lease of premises                    18,406                     37,001  

Software and technical support costs                    11,099                       6,693  

Business travel expenses                      8,487                       6,945  

Research costs                      7,644                     29,913  

Hospitality costs                      4,114                       2,967  

Communication services                      3,195                       3,292  

Maintenance of cryogenic equipment                      2,568                          112  

Audit expenses                      2,389                       1,191  

Other expenses                    14,888                     23,327  

Depreciation of fixed assets                    30,354                     23,700  

Amortization of intangible assets and R&D                    14,206                       5,952  

Depreciation of right-of-use assets                    15,462                            -    

Total operating expenses                  655,053                   527,297  
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11. Net Other Non-Operating Income/ (Expenses) 

  

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019 

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018 

Other non-operating income:     

Sale of securities                    23,903                     18,278  

Reversal of the provision for doubtful debts                      2,530                     (8,277) 

Grant                      1,579                          719  

Other income                    15,652                     77,301  

Total other non-operating income                    43,664                     88,021  

    

Other non-operating expenses:   

Sale of securities                  (29,990)                  (19,046) 

R&D that did not yield a positive result                  (19,251)                    (6,260) 

Banking expenses                  (10,191)                    (9,605) 

Tax expenses                    (1,472)                    (7,879) 

Revaluation of securities                         (95)                (121,007) 

Other                  (24,094)                  (60,123) 

Total other non-operating expenses                  (85,093)                (223,920) 

Total net other non-operating expenses                  (41,429)                (135,899) 

 

 

12. Net Exchange Differences 

  
Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019 

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018 

Foreign exchange losses                     (6,088)                  (10,630) 

Foreign exchange gains                      5,079                       2,282  

Total net foreign exchange losses                    (1,009)                    (8,348) 

 

 
13. Interest Expenses 

  

 Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019  

 Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018  

Accrued interest payable                  (41,548)                  (30,242) 

Total interest expenses                  (41,548)                  (30,242) 

 
 
14. Income Tax 

 
Key components of income tax expense for the fiscal years ended on 31 December 2019 and 2018: 

  
Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019 

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018 

Deferred income tax profit                      9,891                     35,586  

Income tax profit recognized in the statement of comprehensive income                      9,891                     35,586  

 

 

 
 
 
14. Income Tax (continued) 
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Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit multiplied by the tax rate applicable in 

Russia for 2019 and 2018: 

  
 Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019  

 Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018  

Profit/loss before tax                   101,444                   (53,829) 

Hypothetical income tax at a rate of 20%                  (20,289)                    10,766  

Tax effect of applying the 0% rate to transactions related to the healthcare 

operations of the subsidiaries 
                   30,180                     24,820  

Total income tax                      9,891                     35,586  

 

In the reporting period, the following group companies were income tax payers at a rate of 20%: HSCI PJSC, 

NextGen Pharma LLC, LKT LLC, IceGen2 LLC. The following companies are not income tax payers, being 

Skolkovo residents: GENETIKO CGRM LLC, NextGen LLC, and Angiogenesis LLC. Companies IMCB PJSC 

and Reprolab LLC apply a 0% income tax rate as companies engaged in medical activities.   

 
Deferred Income Tax 

 

Deferred income tax applies to the following items: 

  
As of 31 December               

2019 

As of 31 

December               

2018 

Change                  

in 2019 

Tax difference for fixed assets                        5,515                  9,363                   (3,848) 

Tax difference for intangible assets                      49,772                39,218                   10,554  

Losses of prior periods                               6                       64                        (58) 

Tax difference for ECL provision                        7,156                  2,805                     4,351  

Revaluation of shares                        1,843                        -                       1,843  

Inventory write-off adjustment                           244                     294                        (50) 

Other                           193                  3,112                   (2,901) 

Total net deferred assets                      64,729                54,856                     9,891  

       

Reported in the statement of financial position as:      

Deferred tax assets                      65,047                57,380    

Deferred tax liabilities                           318                  2,524    

 

  
As of 31 December               

2018 

As of 31 

December               

2017 

Change                  

in 2018 

Tax difference for fixed assets                        9,363                 (8,771)                  18,134  

Tax difference for intangible assets                      39,218                  1,155                   38,063  

Losses of prior periods                             64                  8,363                   (8,299) 

Tax difference for expenses of accruing the provision 

for doubtful debts 
                       2,805                  2,251                        554  

Tax difference for R&D expenses                             -                    1,102                   (1,102) 

Revaluation of shares                             -                  11,114                 (11,114) 

Inventory write-off adjustment                           294                     399                      (105) 

Other                        3,112                  3,657                      (545) 

Total net deferred assets                      54,856                19,270                   35,586  

        

Reported in the statement of financial position as:       

Deferred tax assets                      57,380                22,776    

Deferred tax liabilities                        2,524                  3,506    

 

15. Earnings per Share 
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The basic earning/loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to the 

common shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

during the year. The Company had no convertible securities or other instruments that could have resulted in 

additional common shares upon conversion. Therefore, the basic and diluted loss per share are equal. 

Below is the information on the income / (loss) and number of shares used in the basic and diluted loss per share 

calculations: 

  
Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019 

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018 

Income / (loss) attributable to the common shareholders of the parent 

company for basic earning calculation 
                  111,335                    (18,243) 

Weighted average number of common shares to calculate basic earnings per 

share (par value 0.1 roubles), shares 
             75,000,000               75,000,000  

Basic earnings / (loss) per share, roubles                         1.48                        (0.24) 

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share, roubles                         1.48                        (0.24) 

      

 

There have been no other transactions involving common shares or potential common shares between the 

reporting date and the date these financial statements are authorized for issue. 
 

16. Fixed Assets 

  
Buildings and 

structures 

Plant and 

equipment 
Other Total 

Historical cost         

Balance as of 31 December 2017                      94,389                     279,364                       43,986                417,739  

Acquisitions                        1,017                       34,543                         4,627                  40,187  

Disposals                              -                         (1,152)                      (2,219)                 (3,371) 

Balance as of 31 December 2018                      95,406                     312,755                       46,394                454,555  

Reclassification of the value of right-of-use 

assets                              -                         (7,471)                              -                    (7,471) 

Balance as of 01 January 2019                      95,406                     305,284                       46,394                447,084  

Acquisitions                              -                         21,266                         2,339                  23,605  

Disposals                              -                       (11,044)                    (19,369)               (30,413) 

Balance as of 31 December 2019                      95,406                     315,506                       29,364                440,276  

Accumulated depreciation         

Balance as of 31 December 2017                    (44,465)                    (60,155)                    (30,440)             (135,060) 

Depreciation for 2018                      (8,278)                    (31,038)                      (5,570)               (44,886) 

Depreciation of the disposed for 2018                              -                           1,152                            960                    2,112  

Balance as of 31 December 2018                    (52,743)                    (90,041)                    (35,050)             (177,834) 

Reclassification of depreciation by right-of-

use assets                              -                           4,353                               -                      4,353  

Balance as of 01 January 2019                    (52,743)                    (85,688)                    (35,050)             (173,481) 

Depreciation for 2019                      (8,554)                    (34,409)                      (5,451)               (48,414) 

Depreciation of the disposed for 2019                              -                              764                       17,715                  18,479  

Balance as of 31 December 2019                    (61,297)                  (119,333)                    (22,786)             (203,416) 

Residual value         

Balance as of 31 December 2017                      49,924                     219,209                       13,546                282,679  

Balance as of 31 December 2018                      42,663                     222,714                       11,344                276,721  

Balance as of 31 December 2019                      34,109                     196,173                         6,578                236,860  

 

Capitalization of depreciation in 2019 was 18,060 thousand roubles (2018: 21,168 thousand roubles)   
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17. Intangible Assets  

  
Development 

costs 

Rights of use 

and patents 
Trademarks 

Computer 

software and 

licenses 

Total IAs 

Historical cost      
Balance as of 31 December 2017              53,979               75,521                 1,160                 3,124             133,785  

Acquisitions            141,590               76,358                       -                      343             218,291  

Disposals               (3,195)                    (26)                      -                     (721)               (3,942) 

Balance as of 31 December 2018            192,374             151,853                 1,160                 2,746             348,134  

Acquisitions            160,681                 6,606                      41                    718             168,046  

Disposals             (50,382)                  (240)                      -                     (310)             (50,932) 

Balance as of 31 December 2019            302,673             158,219                 1,201                 3,154             465,248  

            

Accumulated depreciation           

Balance as of 31 December 2017               (8,640)             (15,158)                  (590)               (1,553)             (25,941) 

Depreciation for 12 months of 2018                  (495)               (5,226)                  (118)                  (113)               (5,952) 

Disposal                      -                        26                       -                      170                    196  

Balance as of 31 December 2018               (9,135)             (20,358)                  (708)               (1,496)             (31,697) 

Depreciation for 12 months of 2019                  (495)             (12,782)                  (119)                  (810)             (14,206) 

Disposal                     208                       -                      310                    518  

Balance as of 31 December 2019               (9,630)             (32,932)                  (827)               (1,996)             (45,385) 

            

Residual value           

Balance as of 31 December 2017              45,339               60,363                    570                 1,571             107,844  

Balance as of 31 December 2018            183,239             131,495                    452                 1,250             316,437  

Balance as of 31 December 2019            293,043             125,287                    374                 1,158             419,863  

 

Research and development costs that fail to meet the criteria for their recognition as intangible assets according 

to the accounting policy are initially recognized within the expired costs at the moment they are incurred.  

 

18. Right-of-Use Assets 

  
Premises 

Plant and 

equipment 
Total 

Residual value as of 31 December 2018                           -                              -                                -    

Initial recognition                 143,778                            -                      143,778  

Reclassification from fixed asset items                           -                        3,118                        3,118  

Initial recognition                          -                        7,471                        7,471  

Accrued depreciation                          -                      (4,353)                     (4,353) 

Residual value as of 1 January 2019                 143,778                      3,118                    146,896  

Proceeds from the conclusion of new contracts                           -                      11,024                      11,024  

Disposal due to termination of contracts                           -                              -                                -    

Historical cost                           -                       (2,355)                      (2,355) 

Accrued depreciation                           -                        2,355                        2,355  

Depreciation for 2019                  (12,478)                    (2,985)                    (15,463) 

Residual value as of 31 December 2019                 131,300                    11,157                    142,457  

 Historical cost                 143,777                    16,140                    159,917  

Accrued depreciation                 (12,477)                   (4,983)                   (17,460) 
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19. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

 
  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Financial assets     

Financial instruments remeasured at fair value through profit or 

loss 
                      88,571                      131,004  

Financial instruments measured at amortized cost                     228,515                      139,666  

Held-to-maturity investments                       18,188                                 3  

Long-term loans issued                         6,980                                -    

Trade receivables from operating activities 

and other receivables 
                    101,740                        65,695  

Cash and cash equivalents                       89,745                        64,413  

Short-term loans issued                       11,862                          9,555  

Total financial assets                     317,086                      270,670  

Total current                     291,918                      270,667  

Total non-current                       25,168                                 3  

 

Financial assets remeasured through profit or loss reflect changes in the fair value of financial assets held for trading. 

The fair value of these quoted securities is determined on the basis of published price quotations in an active market. 

 
Loans and receivables are held to maturity and generate fixed or variable interest income for the Group. Their carrying 

amounts may be affected by changes in counterparties' credit risk. 

Long-term loans 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Debtor 2                         5,480                                -    

HSCI Group employees, individuals                         1,500                                -    

                          6,980                                -    

      

Short-term loans 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Debtor 1                         1,700                                -    

Debtor 2                         1,300                          1,395  

Debtor 3                            820                                -    

Debtor 4                               -                            1,300  

      

HSCI Group employees, individuals                         8,042                          6,860  

Total short-term loans issued                       11,862                          9,555  

Total loans issued                       18,842                          9,555  

 
Trade receivables from operating activities, advances paid and other receivables: 

  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Receivables from purchasers and customers                        61,717                        43,814  

Other receivables                       23,289                          6,617  

Advances paid to suppliers                        45,057                        65,682  

Tax advances and overpayments                       16,734                        15,264  

Total                     146,797                      131,377  

 
The amount of ECL provisions is determined by the Group's management through identification of specific consumers' 

ability to pay, conventional payment modes used by clients, future receipts and settlements, and through analysis of 

estimated future cash flows. 

 

The Group management holds that the Group companies will be able to receive the net realizable value of the 

receivables through direct cash payments and non-cash settlements, and therefore, the amount approximately 

represents their fair value.    
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19. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 
Financial Liabilities 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

      

Recorded at amortized cost:     

Issued bonds                       30,000                                -    

Short-term interest-bearing loans and borrowings                     138,384                        50,648  

Long-term interest-bearing loans and borrowings                     113,660                      322,015  

Short-term lease liabilities                         7,984                          1,208  

Long-term lease liabilities                     134,187                             593  

Trade payables from operating activities and other payables:                       67,670                      130,529  

Payables to supplier and contractors                       41,063                        79,882  

Other creditors                       21,727                        41,634  

Taxes payable                         4,880                          9,013  

Total financial liabilities                     491,885                      504,993  

Total long-term                     277,847                      322,608  

Total short-term                     214,038                      182,385  

 
  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Target financing (grant)                       19,852                                -    

 

The target financing line item shows a Skolkovo grant to conduct clinical trials to expand the clinical indications of 

the drug Neovasculgen® when used in therapy to treat diabetic foot syndrome, less the income recognized in 2019.  

Borrowings at the end of 2019 and 2018 have the following structure: 

 
Long-term loans and borrowings 

Lender Currency 
Effective 

interest rate, % 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Lender 1 RUB 5                   103,660                   300,000  

Lender 2 RUB 15                             -                       17,015  

Lender 3 RUB 12.5                     10,000                       5,000  

Total long-term loans and borrowings                     113,660                   322,015  

In August 2016, HSCI's subsidiary, GENETIKO CGRM LLC, received a loan of 300,000 thousand roubles at 5% per 

annum under a target loan agreement with the Russian Technology Development Fund, a federal state autonomous 

institution (abbreviated name – Industrial Development Fund) for a period of 5 years. 

 
Short-term loans and borrowings 

Lender Currency 
Effective 

interest rate, % 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Lender 3 RUB 12.5                     10,430                     11,078  

Lender 2 RUB 15                     10,186                     34,030  

Lender 1 RUB 5                   112,826                          532  

Lender 4 RUB 15                       4,942                       5,008  

Total short-term loans and borrowings                       138,384                     50,648  

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings                       252,044                   372,663  

 
 

19. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 
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During the reporting period, the Group's subsidiary, IMCB PJSC, placed its first issue of exchange-traded bonds. The 

company currently has outstanding exchange-traded bonds worth 30,000,000 roubles maturing in 10 years with a 

closest offer on 22 December 2020 at a rate of 13.5% per annum. 

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The Group's key financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables. 

The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group's operations and to provide guarantees to support 

its activities. The Group's key financial assets include loans, trade and other receivables, and cash. The Group also 

holds available-for-sale financial instruments.  

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  

To effectively manage these risks, the Group employs certain financial risk management strategies that are consistent 

with the Group's objectives. These principles set forth short- and long-term objectives and actions to be taken in 

managing the financial risks faced by the Group. 

The main recommendations of this policy are as follows: 

• minimize interest rate, currency and market risks for all types of operations; 

• all financial risk management activities must be implemented and constantly monitored; 

• all financial risk management activities must be conducted in a reasonable and consistent manner and in 

accordance with market best practices. 

 

The Group may invest in shares or similar instruments only if there is a temporary liquidity surplus, and such 

transactions must be authorized by the Board of Directors. Internal audits are conducted to ensure compliance with 

the Group's policies and procedures. Internal audits are conducted to ensure compliance with the Group's policies and 

procedures. 

In particular, the Group adheres to the following risk management policies with respect to derivative instruments: 

• the Group thoroughly documents all derivatives, including the relationships between them; 

• the Group has only quality financial institutions as counterparties for derivatives transactions.  

 

The Board of Directors reviews and approves these risk management policies, which are summarized below. 

 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market prices. Market risk includes three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk, and other price risks, such 

as equity price risk and commodity price risk. Financial instruments exposed to market risk include loans and 

borrowings and available-for-sale investments. 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Group is not exposed to interest rate risk, as there are only fixed-rate liabilities. 

At present, the Group does not have any receivables that are long-term in nature. 
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19. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

Currency Risk 

 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in foreign exchange rates.  

As the Group operates only in the Russian market and the majority of its purchases are denominated in roubles, the 

Group is not exposed to currency risk in its ordinary business. 

The Group management takes the necessary steps to ensure that the share of imported goods in the cost structure is 

not critical. The Group's sources of financing are not denominated in foreign currencies.  

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because counterparties fail to discharge their obligations 

under a financial instrument or customer contract. The Group is exposed to credit risk related to its operating activities 

(primarily with respect to trade receivables) and financing activities (primarily with respect to loans issued to an 

associated company). 

Trade Receivables 

 

Customer credit risk is managed in accordance with the Group's policies, procedures and control system established 

by the Group to manage customer credit risk. The Group regularly monitors outstanding receivables from customers 

and makes an adequate provision for doubtful debts based on the principle of prudence; and it writes off receivables 

that are past due as expenses of the Group. 

Financial Instruments and Cash Deposits 

 

Balances of cash and cash equivalents with maximum exposure to credit risk are short-term deposits with a maturity 

of less than 30 days. The Group has no such assets.  

 

The amount of cash and cash equivalents owned by the Group as of the beginning and the end of the reporting period 

consists of cash in commercial bank accounts. 

Liquidity Risk 

 

The Group controls the risk of cash deficit using a current liquidity planning tool. 

 

The Group's goal is to maintain a balance between continuity of financing and flexibility through the use of bank loans 

and factoring. The table below summarizes financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (contractual and 

undiscounted cash flows).  

Year ended on 31 December 2019 
Loans, borrowings 

and issued bonds 

Trade payables from 

operating activities 

and other payables 

Lease liabilities 

         

Under 1 year                        138,384                           81,526                                   7,984  

Over 1 year                        143,660                                  -                                 134,187  

Total                         282,044                           81,526                               142,171  

 

 

19. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 
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Year ended on 31 December 2018 Loans, borrowings  

Trade payables from 

operating activities 

and other payables 

Lease liabilities 

         

Under 1 year                          51,856                         123,447                                   1,208  

Over 1 year                        322,608                                  -                                        593  

Total                         374,464                         123,447                                   1,801  

 

 
Seeking to comply with monetary obligations, the Group expects the operating activities to generate sufficient receipts 

of monetary funds. Also, the Group holds financial assets, for which there is a liquid market and which can be quickly 

turned into cash to meet liquidity needs. 

Fair Value 

 

The Group management believes that the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are not materially 

different from their carrying values. 

Industry Risks 

 

The group develops and introduces into practical medicine (commercialization and market promotion) innovative 

medical products and high-tech services based on cell, gene and post-genomic technologies. 

The Company aims to create a new culture of patient care – to foster health care in the field of personalized and 

preventive medicine. 

The Group's activities cover five main areas of modern biomedical technology: 

• regenerative medicine (cellular services and products, tissue-engineered products) 

• bioinsurance 

• medical genetics, including reproductive genetics (genetic research and consulting) 

• gene therapy (gene therapy drugs, gene-activated materials) 

• biopharmaceutics 

Since the above-mentioned industry areas belong to the class of innovative and high-tech fields, they are exposed to 

specific risks, the main of which include the following: 

• uncertainty about the growth rate of demand for innovative products, as well as the formation rate of sufficient 

market volumes for a particular product, including: 

• risk of delayed market acceptance of innovative products/technologies/services – by the professional medical 

community (longer time required to gain trust through a growing number of successful applications; also, for 

example, in cell technology – the complexity of the methodology, which requires doctors to follow protocols, 

have certain skills and put in time, which determines the safety and effectiveness of therapy);  

• risk of delayed market acceptance of innovative products/technologies/services – by the end consumer (longer 

time required to gain understanding and trust through a growing number of successful applications; high cost 

of the service/product to the patient);  

• risk of a slow decline in the price of innovative products and, therefore, less availability to all who need them. 

• reputational risks associated with the possible emergence of additional data on the effectiveness and side effects 

of drugs and technologies due to short experience of their use or lack thereof /"first in class" drugs/); 

 
19. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 
• reputational risks from incomplete data or misinterpretations associated with public discussion, including in 

the media, around various aspects of the development and application of innovative biotechnology (cell 

therapy, gene therapy, genetic diagnostics); 
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• since the markets for new products are just being formed and shared among a few players for now, there may 

be competitor actions through the media; 

• competition from products based on other technologies that may prove to be more effective; 

• risk of the Group's significant dependence on highly qualified production and quality control personnel, as well 

as those involved in R&D, in conducting its activities; 

• risks associated with the registration of existing products abroad, as well as new products in Russia (the success 

of pre-clinical trials, clinical trials and registration actions); 

• currency risk – sharp fluctuations in exchange rates, which may lead to a significant increase in the price of 

necessary imported consumables; 

• geopolitical risk: the risk of a ban on imports of consumables, equipment, and technology, as well as risks of 

quarantine due to epidemics; 

• risk of difficulty in attracting the necessary outside investment: due to both the possible uncertainty of investors 

in the success of commercialization if the product is in the initial stages of development, and due to the low 

readiness of most investors for a slow return on investment (due to the length of the "biotechnology cycle" - 

the long process of R&D, market launch and achieving planned product margins); 

• risk of new regulatory documents/regulatory barriers (risk of changes in legislation and regulatory 

environment, which may result in additional requirements for products and the need to comply with them (in 

the field of licensing, registration, oversight, etc.)).  

 
There are risks associated with the promotion of the Group's services on the market. The Group's performance is 

affected by such factors as:  

• the birth and death rates in the markets where the Group operates; 

• the level of public awareness of innovative services and products in the Group's sphere of activity (in the area of 

biotechnology and biopharmaceutics: regenerative medicine (cellular drugs and technologies, bio-insurance), 

medical genetics (genetic testing, gene therapy), biopharmaceuticals, reproductive technologies); 

• the incidence of hematological and oncological diseases, primary immunodeficiencies, hereditary diseases, 

cardiovascular diseases, infertility, etc.;  

• environmental conditions;  

• the state of the scientific base in the field of biotechnology both in Russia and abroad; 

• the availability of scientific and auxiliary personnel of high qualification – specialists in the field of the Group's 

activity; 

• the number of examples of successful practical application of cell technologies (including SC transplants) in 

Russia. 

• unforeseen changes in market conditions for research products; 

• obtaining a negative scientific result; 

• obtaining negative economic consequences; 

• unforeseen changes in state commercial regulations (taxes, depreciation); 

• a decrease in the population and, consequently, a decrease in the number of consumers; 

• reduction of wages, which will reduce the purchasing power of the population. 

• the competitive environment; 

• the legislative regulation of the Group's activities in the Russian Federation and, in the long term, abroad; 

• including the Group's products in the programs of state financing of drug supply to the population; 

• the level of public awareness of innovative products in the Group's sphere of activity. 

19. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

 

These risks could affect the Group's business by worsening or slowing the growth rate of its financial results, which 

could affect the Group's share price and ability to pay dividend income. However, the Group minimizes these risks, 

including through an extensive advertising campaign and education about the safety of the latest scientific 

developments and discoveries in both its core business and related areas.  

The Group currently estimates the risk of changes in the competitive environment in its main sales markets as rather 

low due to either the significant size of the Group's market share (the service of isolation and long-term personal 

storage of UCB-SCs) or the absence of direct competition (as the Group's product/service forms this new market being 

"first in class" or "unique" - Neovasculgen®, SPRS-therapy®) or due to distinctive competitive advantages and features 

(Genetico® genetic research and consulting services; Reprobank® services). 

The parent company's long-term development strategy includes growth through expansion and development of the 

Group's unique products (Neovasculgen® and SPRS-therapy®, Genetico® services) in foreign markets, including 
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through entering into partnership programs. Therefore, the Group management and owners do not rule out a number 

of risks associated with the development of promising drugs and services abroad. 

In addition, the Group is exposed to financial risks associated with climate change, diseases, and other natural risks 

such as fires, flooding, and losses caused by human action, e.g., strikes, riots, and malicious damage. These risks are 

covered by appropriate insurance in accordance with the management's decisions. 

 

Moreover, the management of Group companies pays due attention to optimal business practices and firefighting 

measures. 

The probability of the risks is low. 

 

20. Inventory 

  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Raw materials                   165,596                    133,692  

Other inventory                       6,573                        1,990  

Work-in-progress                       1,358                              -    

Goods for resale                             -                          3,886  

Inventory reserve                         (855)                      (1,696) 

Total inventory                   172,672                    137,872  

 

The increase in raw materials for the reporting period is caused by the development of key projects of  

GENETIKO CGRM LLC. 

 

21. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Cash in roubles on hand and in the settlement account                     26,221                      52,448  

Cash in roubles in deposit accounts (repayable within 3 months)                     61,490                      11,800  

Cash in foreign currency in the settlement account                       2,034                           165  

Total cash and cash equivalents                     89,745                      64,413  

 

Cash and cash equivalents are placed mainly with Sberbank of Russia PJSC, which has minimal default risk as of the 

reporting date. 
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22. Equity and Funds 

Authorized Capital and Share Premium 

 

The authorized capital of the Parent Company consists of 75,000,000 common shares in book-entry form with a par 

value of 0.10 roubles each. The authorized capital is paid in full. 

 

As of 31 December 2019, the major shareholders of the Company are:  

• Maria Ilyinichna Isaeva; share in % – 32.53% 

• DYNAMIC SOLUTIONS LTD. (103 Sham Peng Tong Plaza, Victoria, Mahe, Seychelles); share in % – 

25.65% 

• MirMam LLC; share in % – 16.68% 

 

The others are minority shareholders. 

 

On 22 September 2009, an extraordinary meeting of shareholders of HSCI OJSC resolved to increase the authorized 

capital by means of private offering of 20,000,000 (twenty million) additional common shares with a par value of 10 

(ten) kopecks each. The state registration number of the additional issue of securities: 1-01-08902-А-001D, the date 

of the state registration: 8 December 2009. 

 

As a result of the Company's IPO on 10 December 2009, 15,000,000 common shares (additional issue – 20% of the 

authorized capital), at 9.5 roubles per share, were offered in the MICEX IGC (Innovative and Growth Companies) 

sector.  

 

The placement report (additional issue of common shares) was registered in April 2010. In the 2010 consolidated 

financial statements, the total nominal value of the 1,500 shares placed by means of an additional issue is included in 

the Company's Authorized Capital, and the amount of 141,000 thousand roubles is reported as share premium. In 

2012, the Group sold part of its own previously acquired shares, which caused a decrease in share premium by 1,298 

thousand roubles.  In 2019, the Group sold part of its own shares, previously repurchased from shareholders, which 

caused a decrease in share premium by 4,700 thousand roubles.    

 

23. Contingent and Contractual Liabilities and Operating Risks 

Political Background 

 

The operations and earnings of the Group companies are, to varying degrees, affected by political, legislative, fiscal 

and regulatory developments in the Russian Federation. 

Insurance 

 

The Group holds limited insurance policies covering assets, operations, civil liability and other insurable risks. 

Therefore, the Group may be exposed to those risks for which insurance has not been obtained. 

Litigations 

 

In the opinion of the Group management, there are no current legal proceedings or other claims outstanding against 

the Group, or final rulings issued, that could have a material adverse effect on the Group's financial position. 
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23. Contingent and Contractual Liabilities and Operating Risks (continued) 

Foreign Exchange Controls  

Domestic Market 

 

Risks associated with the possibility of changes in foreign exchange controls are currently considered by the Group 

as immaterial. Due to the policy of liberalizing foreign exchange regulation, the risks associated with changes in 

foreign exchange legislation are decreasing.  

Foreign Market 

 

Legal risks associated with changes in foreign exchange regulations on the foreign market do not have a material 

effect on the Group's operations due to the insignificant volume of the Group's operations on the foreign market.  

Risks Associated with Tax Laws 

Domestic Market 

 

The Russian tax laws are subject to different interpretations and frequent changes. The Group management's 

interpretation of such laws as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group may be challenged by the competent 

regional and federal authorities. Recent events in the Russian Federation suggest that the tax authorities may be taking 

a tougher stance in interpreting tax laws and auditing tax computations. As a result, significant additional taxes, 

penalties and fines may be assessed.  

 

Tax audits may cover the three calendar years immediately preceding the year of audit. Under certain conditions, 

earlier periods may also be subject to audit. 

 

The management believes that, as of 31 December 2019, its interpretation of the respective laws is appropriate and 

the Group will have a stable position in terms of tax, foreign exchange and customs laws. In cases where, in the 

management's opinion, there is considerable doubt that the Group's position will be sustained, there are appropriate 

liabilities recognized in the financial statements. 

 

Foreign Market 

 

Legal risks associated with changes in tax laws on the foreign market do not have a material effect on the Group's 

operations due to the insignificant volume of the Group's respective operations.  

Environment 

 

At present, environmental legislation in Russia is becoming stricter, as is the position of the state authorities of the 

Russian Federation regarding compliance with it. The Group regularly assesses its environmental liabilities. 

 

Potential liabilities may arise as a result of changes in the requirements of existing law and regulation of civil disputes. 

The effect of these potential changes is impossible to estimate, but it may be material.  

 

Considering the current situation with regard to compliance with existing regulations, the Group management believes 

that there are no material liabilities related to environmental pollution. 
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23. Contingent and Contractual Liabilities and Operating Risks (continued) 

The Group's Business Environment 

 

The economy of the Russian Federation still has some features of an emerging market. These features include, but are 

not limited to, the non-convertibility of the Russian rouble in most countries and a relatively high inflation. Moreover, 

existing Russian tax, foreign exchange and customs laws are subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes. 

 

Economic prospects of the Russian Federation largely depend on the global macroeconomic situation, the 

effectiveness of economic measures, financial mechanisms and monetary policy of the Government of the Russian 

Federation, the development of tax, legal, administrative and political systems.  

 

The Group's Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees 

 

In August 2016, GENETIKO CGRM LLC received a loan of 300,000 thousand roubles under a target loan agreement 

with the Industrial Development Fund (see Note 19). The performance of obligations under this agreement is secured 

by: 

 
• Pledge of IMCB PJSC's equity instruments (worth 390,676 thousand roubles).  

• Pledge of equipment acquired under the project, stipulated by the target loan agreement, worth at least 

159,101 thousand roubles. 

• Guarantee of HSCI PJSC in accordance with the contract of guarantee: the general liability is limited to 

365,000 thousand roubles. 

 

In March 2020, 298,598 shares in IMCB PJSC out of a total of 1,269,044 shares pledged have been released from 

pledge as collateral for the Group's loan liabilities. 

 

24. Advances Received 

 
  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

      

Advances received     

Long-term advances received                     262,692                      264,698  

Short-term advances received                     253,566                      230,793  

Total advances received                     516,258                      495,491  

 
Long-term advances received from customers include payments for cryopreservation and long-term personal storage 

of umbilical cord blood-derived hematopoietic stem cells (Gemabank®) and donor reproductive material 

(Reprobank®).  

 
25. Estimated Liabilities 

 

For purposes of straight-line recognition of future expenses in production costs of the reporting period, the Group 

creates estimated liabilities (provisions) for future vacation pay and for the amount of insurance contributions. 

Name of indicator 31 December 2018 Recognized Repaid 

Written off 

as surplus 

amount 

31 December 2019 

Estimated liabilities - total          2,554         15,814        (12,095)            (679)          5,593  

including:      

Estimated liabilities with respect to 

employee benefits 
         2,554         15,814        (12,095)            (679)          5,593  

 
 

26. Related Party Disclosures 
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Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or exercise significant influence over, or joint 

control over, the other party's operating and financial decisions, or is under common control with the other party.  

 

In considering each possible case of a related party relationship, the focus should be on the substance of the 

relationship, not its legal form. 

 

Related parties of the Group during the reporting periods were: 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

•         Artur Aleksandrovich Isaev; yes yes 

•         Artur Aleksandrovich Isaev;  yes yes 

•         Vladimir Mikhailovich Matias; yes no 

•         Aleksandr Viktorovich Prikhodko; yes yes 

•         Sergey Lvovich Kiselev; yes no 

•         Maria Ilyinichna Isaeva; yes yes 

•         Dmitriy Andreevich Aleksandrov; no yes 

•         Roman Vadimovich Deev yes yes 

•         Vadim Leonidovich Zorin no yes 

•         Boris Aleksandrovich Mayzel no yes 

•         Igor Leonidovich Plaksa no yes 

•         Dmitriy Edgardovich Boguslavskiy yes yes 

•         Avtandil Georgievich Chogovadze no yes 

•         Dynamic Solutions Ltd. (Seychelles); yes yes 

 

The parent company's transactions with related parties include: 

 

  

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2019 

Year 

 ended on  

31 December 2018 

Interest income                           437                            381  

 

Account balances with related parties of the Group at the beginning and end of the period are shown below: 

 
  31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Receivables                           949                            838  

Payables                               4                         1,054  

Short-term loans issued                        5,898                         6,407  

Long-term loans issued                        1,500                               -    
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26. Related Party Disclosures (continued)  

 

Compensation paid to key management personnel of the Group 

 

Compensation paid to the Group's key management personnel for the performance of their duties in their positions is 

made up of contractual salaries and bonuses. These amounts include personal income tax and do not include insurance 

payments to extra-budgetary funds. 

 
 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 

Salaries and other short-term compensation 19,831 29,635 

Total as of 31 December 19,831 29,635 

 

 
27. Events After the Reporting Date 

 

In Q1 2020 there was a 30% growth of the dollar exchange rate.  The Group has no material liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies, in particular U.S. dollars or euros.  

In addition, business in Russia, like everywhere else in the world, is facing a new crisis caused by the COVID-19 

coronavirus pandemic and the introduction of quarantine measures in all Russian cities. As of the date of issuing the 

financial statements, the Group companies continues to operate and provide services to the public, as they are licensed 

to practice medicine.  

In the segment of Gemabank® services, there has been an increase in customer interest in the service of preserving 

mesenchymal cells and umbilical cord tissue as a bio-insurance for the child and the whole family.  The Group plans 

to develop and contractually produce tests for detection of antibodies to COVID-19 coronavirus proteins in patients' 

blood on the basis of GENETIKO CGRM LLC (Genetico®).   

As part of the development of the new direction, a subsidiary of the Group, Nextgen Pharma LLC, entered into 

contracts for the supply of express tests Vazyme and Innovita (antibodies to COVID-19) to wholesale customers  

 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue and signed by the Group Management on 06 May 

2020. 

 

 
 
 
 
_____________________________     

S.V. Masyuk       

General Director  

/Signature/ 

[Stamp] 


